Electrical Characterization of Ruthenium Dioxide Schottky Contacts on GaN

**Noah Patrick Allen** 

Thesis submitted to the faculty of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science In Electrical Engineering

Louis Guido, Chair G.Q. Lu Alex Aning

9 December 2014 Blacksburg, VA

Keywords: Schottky, GaN, Electrical Characterization, Ruthenium Dioxide, I-V

#### Electrical Characterization of Ruthenium Dioxide Schottky Contacts on GaN

#### **Noah Patrick Allen**

## Abstract

A film which is optically transparent and electrically conductive is difficult to come by but can be realized in ways such as doping an oxidized film or by oxidizing a metallic film resulting in what is known as a transparent conducting oxide (TCO). TCO's have many important uses in electronics, especially as the top contact in to solar cells where efficient transmission of light and low electrical resistivity allow for higher efficiency solar cells and as the gate contact in AlGaN/GaN HFET's allowing for optical characterization of the subsurface transistor properties. Because these devices rely heavily on the characteristics of its material interfaces, a detailed analysis should be done to investigate the electrical effects of implementing a TCO.

In this work, the electrical characterization of ruthenium dioxide (RuO<sub>2</sub>) Schottky contacts to gallium nitride (GaN) formed by evaporating ruthenium with a subsequent open-air annealing is presented. The results gathered from the current-voltage-temperature and the capacitance-voltage relationships were compared to ruthenium (Ru) on GaN and platinum (Pt) on GaN. Additionally, the measurement and analysis procedure was qualified on a similar structure of nickel on GaAs due to its well-behave nature and presence in the literature. The results indicate that an inhomogeneous Gaussian distribution of barrier heights exists at the RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN interface with an increase of 83meV in the mean barrier height when compared to Ru/GaN.

# Acknowledgements

The author would like to give thanks to the following people for their contribution to this research. I would like to thank my research advisor, Dr. Louis Guido for his guidance and input into much of this research. Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. G.Q. Lu and Dr. Alex Aning for their input and guidance in completing this thesis. I would like to thank my colleagues Kevin Chern, Tim Ciarkowski, and Eric Carlson for their input and hands-on help in the labs. Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their unconditional support that has allowed me to reach my potential.

# Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	VI
LIST OF TABLES	VII
1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	2
2.1 Properties of III-Nitrides	2
2.1.1 Crystal Properties	2
2.1.2 Electrical Properties	3
2.1.3 Optical Properties	4
2.2 Growth of III-Nitrides	4
2.2.1 Methods	4
2.2.1.1 Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy	5
2.2.1.2 Organometallic Vapor Phase Epitaxy	5
2.2.1.3 Buffer Layer	7
2.2.2 Substrates	7
2.2.3 Doping	9
2.3 Schottky Contacts	9
2.3.1 Background	9
2.3.2 Metal-Semiconductor Interface Models	
2.3.2.1 Schottky-Mott Theory	
2.3.2.2 MIGS	
2.3.2.3 UDM	
2.3.2.4 DIGS	
2.3.2.5 Bond Polarization Model	
2.3.3 Image-Force Barrier Lowering	
2.3.4 Homogeneous Barrier Height	
2.3.5 Inhomogeneous Barrier Height	
2.3.6 Current Transport Mechanism	
2.3.6.1 Ideal Thermionic Emission	
2.3.6.2 Thermionic Field Emission and Field Emission	
2.4 TRANSPARENT CONDUCTING OXIDE SEMICONDUCTORS	
2.4.1 Ruthenium Dioxide	
3 METHODS OF PARAMETER EXTRACTION	19
3.1 Homogenous MS Junction	19
3.1.1 Thermionic Emission Parameter Extraction	
3.1.2 Series Resistance Parameter Extraction	
3.1.3 Capacitance-Voltage Parameter Extraction	21
3.1.4 I-V-T Analysis of Homogeneous MS Junctions	
3.2 Inhomogeneous MS Junction	22
3.2.1 I-V-T Analysis of Inhomogeneous MS Junctions	
3.2.2 Reverse Current-Voltage-Temperature Measurements	23

3.3 Measurement Acquisition	24
3.4 Device Structures and Fabrication	25
3.4.1 Ni/GaAs Device Structure	25
3.5 NI/GAAs Schottky Results	25
3.6 DISCUSSION OF EVALUATION TECHNIQUES	
4 INVESTIGATION OF RUO2 SCHOTTKY BARRIERS ON GAN	
4.1 METAL/GAN DEVICE STRUCTURE	34
4.2 Results of Metal/GaN Schottky Diodes	
4.3 DISCUSSION OF GAN DEVICE RESULTS	48
5 CONCLUSION	
6 REFERENCES	
	FO
7 APPENDIX	
7 APPENDIX	
7 APPENDIX 7.1 Appendix A. Derivation of Current Transport Mechanism 7.2 Appendix B. NI/GaAs Fabrication Process	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> <li>7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> <li>7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process</li> <li>7.3 APPENDIX C. GAAS RIE DRY ETCH RECIPE</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> <li>7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process</li> <li>7.3 APPENDIX C. GAAS RIE DRY ETCH RECIPE</li> <li>7.4 APPENDIX D. METAL/GAN FABRICATION PROCESS</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> <li>7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process</li> <li>7.3 APPENDIX C. GAAS RIE DRY ETCH RECIPE</li> <li>7.4 APPENDIX D. METAL/GAN FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.4.1 GaN Cleaning</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> <li>7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process</li> <li>7.3 APPENDIX C. GAAS RIE DRY ETCH RECIPE</li> <li>7.4 APPENDIX D. METAL/GAN FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.4.1 GaN Cleaning</li> <li>7.4.2 GaN Photoprocess</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>7 APPENDIX</li> <li>7.1 APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF CURRENT TRANSPORT MECHANISM</li> <li>7.2 APPENDIX B. NI/GAAS FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning</li> <li>7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess</li> <li>7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching</li> <li>7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition</li> <li>7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process</li> <li>7.3 APPENDIX C. GAAS RIE DRY ETCH RECIPE</li> <li>7.4 APPENDIX D. METAL/GAN FABRICATION PROCESS</li> <li>7.4.1 GaN Cleaning</li> <li>7.4.2 GaN Photoprocess</li> <li>7.4.3 GaN Metal Deposition</li> </ul>	

# List of Figures

FIGURE 1. BAND GAP OF VARIOUS SEMICONDUCTORS. NOTICE THAT BY CHANGING THE MAKEUP OF THE III-NITRIDE SEMICONDUCTORS YO	U
CAN MODULATE THE BANDGAP GREATLY [3]	2
FIGURE 2. STICK AND BALL REPRESENTATION OF THE TETRAHEDRALLY COORDINATED GAN CRYSTAL. [5]	3
FIGURE 3. ARRHENIUS PLOT SHOWING THE THREE LIMITING REGIMES OF AN EXOTHERMIC GROWTH SUCH AS IN THE CASE OF OMVPE [42	]
FIGURE 4. THE THREADING DISLOCATION DENSITY VS. THICKNESS OF GROWN BUFFER LAYER FROM [43]	7
FIGURE 5. A SCANNING CURRENT-VOLTAGE MICROSCOPY (SIVM) MEASUREMENT ON AN MBE GROWN GAN FILM. (A) IS A	
TOPOGRAPHICAL IMAGE OF THE SUBSTRATE SHOWING THE SPIRAL HILLOCKS TYPICALLY SEEN IN MBE GROWN FILMS. A CURRENT	
MAP (B) WAS DONE IN THE SAME REGION WHERE THE DARKER REGIONS SHOW CURRENT ABOVE THE $4\cdot10^{-13}$ A limit (black region	IS
represent $\sim 2 \cdot 10^{\cdot 11}$ A). In (c) the topography is overlaid on the current topography [45]	8
FIGURE 6. ENERGY BAND DIAGRAM OF MS CONTACT. WHEN SEPARATED (A) THE MATERIALS DON'T INTERACT. THEN AS THEY ARE	
BROUGHT CLOSER (B) THE FERMI LEVELS LINE UP AND THE DENSITY OF STATES AT THE SEMICONDUCTOR SURFACE SHIFT TO	
COMPENSATE FOR THE ELECTRIC FIELD. THE GAP IS (C) AND FINALLY (D) BECOMES ZERO [51]. THE LAST FIGURE (E) SHOWS AN IDEA	L
SB with detailed energy levels labeled [53]1	0
FIGURE 7. UDM PREDICTED THAT SURFACE DEFECTS STATES NORMALLY PASIVATED THROUGH SURFACE RECONSTRUCTION, AS SEEN IN A),	
COULD BE BROUGHT BACK INTO THE BANDGAP DURING METAL DEPOSITION. IN B) IT CAN BE SEEN THAT AT VERY SMALL SURFACE	
DENSITIES OF METAL ATOMS, THE SURFACE FERMI LEVEL SEEMS ORIGINATE FROM EITHER THE VALENCE BAND FOR P-TYPE MATERIAL	
OR THE CONDUCTION BAND FOR N-TYPE MATERIAL AND PIN AT 0.5EV OR 0.75EV FROM THE VALENCE BAND RESPECTIVELY [57]. 1	2
FIGURE 8. THE A) THEORETICAL LAYER STRUCTURE AT AN IS OR MS INTERFACE AND THE B) DENSITY OF STATES IN THE GAP AS A FUNCTION	
OF ENERGY. DIGS PREDICTS THE CURVATURE AND MAGNITUDE OF THE U-SHAPED DENSITY OF STATES GRAPH DEPENDS ON THE	
AMOUNT OF DISORDER AT THE INTERFACE. THREE LEVELS OF DISORDERING ARE SHOWN I) A GOOD IS INTERFACE II) A BAD IS	
INTERFACE AND III) A TYPICAL MS INTERFACE [59]1	3
FIGURE 9. THE ABOVE DIAGRAM SHOWS THE VACUUM LEVEL ENERGY BAND AND THE PERTURBATION DUE TO THE EFFECT OF IMAGE-FORCE	ES
AND EXTERNAL BIAS ON CHARGES IN THE VICINITY OF THE METAL SURFACE [51]	4
FIGURE 10. DIAGRAM SHOWING THE BARRIER VARIATION AND SEMICONDUCTOR ENERGY BAND ALONG A 2D PLANE [64]	6
FIGURE 11. E <sub>00</sub> PLOTED AS A FUNCTION OF DOPING DENSITY. THE DOMINANT CURRENT PROCESS IS SHOWN FOR A ROOM TEMPERATURE	
DEVICE WITH VARIOUS BULK DOPING DENSITIES	8
FIGURE 12. TWO GRAPHICAL METHODS USED TO EXTRACT THE SATURATION CURRENT AND IDEALITY FACTOR FROM IV DATA COLLECTED	
FROM AN IDEAL SCHOTTKY DEVICE [65]2	0
FIGURE 13. PICTURE OF THE MEASUREMENT SETUP IN HOLDEN 307 CAPABLE OF J-V-T AND C-V-T MEASUREMENTS	4
FIGURE 14. CROSS-SECTION OF 120530-1 GAAS DEVICE STRUCTURE USED FOR INITIAL SCHOTTKY DIODE FABRICATION	5
FIGURE 15. CURRENT DENSITY VS. VOLTAGE PLOT OF NI/GAAS SCHOTTKY DIODES VARYING IN DIAMETER BETWEEN 200UM AND 450UM	
2	6
FIGURE 16. CURRENT DENSITY VS. REVERSE VOLTAGE PLOT OF NI/GAAS SCHOTTKY DIODES VARYING IN DIAMETER BETWEEN 200UM AND	
450им2	7
FIGURE 17. A <sup>2</sup> /C <sup>2</sup> PLOT FOR THE 120530-1 NI/GAAS MESA (2-9) DEVICES BETWEEN 0.2V AND -1V. THE DATA WAS OVERLAID WITH A	4
LINE OF BEST FIT USING LEAST SQUARES2	.8
Figure 18. Free carrier concentration profile derived from the slope of the $A^2/C^2$ data in Figure 182	8
FIGURE 19. J-V-T PLOT FOR THE 120530-1 NI/GAAS SAMPLE TAKEN UNDER VACUUM BETWEEN 170K AND 330K2	9
Figure 20. Characteristic energy plot for the $120530-1$ NI/GaAs device plotted between the temperatures of $170K$ and	
330K. The experimental data (scatter) was fitted with a line using least-squares (solid)	9
FIGURE 21. RICHARDSON PLOT USED TO EXTRACT THE EFFECTIVE RICHARDSON CONSTANT BASED ON THE TEMPERATURE DEPENDENT	
saturation current density. The experimental data (scatter) is fit with a line (solid line) using least-squares3	0

FIGURE 22. THE TEMPERATURE/BIAS DEPENDENCE OF THE GAUSSIAN DISTRIBUTED BARRIER HEIGHTS CAN BE FOUND BY FITTING THE	
TEMPERATURE DEPENDENCE OF THE BARRIER HEIGHT AND IDEALITY FACTOR. THE EXPERIMENTAL DATA (SCATTER) IS FIT WITH A	LINE
(SOLID LINE) USING LEAST-SQUARES	31
FIGURE 23. THEORETICALLY CALCULATED J-V-T CURVES (SOLID LINE) BETWEEN 170K AND 330K USING EQUATION (36) AND THE VALUE OF T	LUES
EXTRACTED FROM THE PLOT IN FIGURE 22.	32
FIGURE 24. MODIFIED RICHARDSON PLOT USING THE STANDARD DEVIATION EXTRACTED FROM ANALYSIS OF THE BARRIER TEMPERATURE	JRE
DEPENDENCE. THE EXPERIMENTAL DATA (SCATTER) WAS FIT WITH A LINE (SOLID) USING LEAST-SQUARES	32
FIGURE 25. CROSS-SECTION OF 140128 GAN DEVICE STRUCTURE USE FOR TCO SCHOTTKY EXPERIMENTS	34
FIGURE 26. EXPERIMENTAL FORWARD J-V DATA FOR THE PT, RU, AND RUO2 SCHOTTKY DIODES ON GAN	35
FIGURE 27. EXPERIMENTAL REVERSE J-V DATA FOR THE PT, RU, AND RUO2 SCHOTTKY DIODES ON GAN	36
FIGURE 28. C-V MEASUREMENTS OF THE PT, RU, AND RUO2 SCHOTTKY DIOES. A LINE OF LEAST-SQUARES FIT (SOLID LINE) IS OVERLA	٩ID
ON THE EXPERIMENTAL DATA (SCATTER).	37
FIGURE 29. DOPING PROFILE FOR THE PT, RU, AND RUO2 SCHOTTKY SAMPLES ON GAN	37
FIGURE 30. J-V-T EXPERIMENTAL DATA FOR THE PT (TOP), RU (MIDDLE), AND RUO2 (BOTTOM) SCHOTTKY DIODES BETWEEN 170K	AND
330К	38
FIGURE 31. CHARACTERISTIC ENERGY PLOTS OF THE PT (TOP), RU (MIDDLE), AND RUO2 (BOTTOM) SCHOTTKY DEVICES ON GAN. TH	IE
GREEN SCATTER REPRESENTS DATA EXTRAPOLATED FROM THE J-V CURVE AT HIGHER BIASES WHILE THE BLUE CURVE REPRESENTS	5
DATA EXTRAPOLATED FROM LOWER BIASES. THE LINE OF BEST FIT WAS FOUND USING LEAST-SQUARES METHOD OVER THE LINEA	٨R
REGION OF EACH DATASET AND OVERLAID ON THE DATA	40
FIGURE 32. RICHARDSON PLOTS FOR THE PT (TOP), RU (MIDDLE), AND RUO2 (BOTTOM) SCHOTTKY DIODES ON GAN. THE DATA	
(SCATTER) WAS FIT WITH A LINE USING LEAST-SQUARES (SOLID LINE) AND OVERLAID ON THE PLOT	41
FIGURE 33. IDEALITY FACTOR AND BARRIER HEIGHTS FOR THE PT (TOP), RU (MIDDLE) AND RUO2 (BOTTOM) SCHOTTKY DIODES EXTRA	<b>\CTED</b>
FROM HIGHER BIAS REGIONS RANGING IN TEMPERATURE BETWEEN 170K AND 330K. THE PT DEVICE IS NOT PLOTTED ON THE S	AME
y-axis scales as the RU and RUO2 devices.	42
FIGURE 34. THEORETICALLY CALCULATED J-V-T CURVES (SOLID LINE) FOR THE PT/GAN DEVICE BETWEEN 170K AND 330K USING	
EQUATION (36) AND THE VALUES EXTRACTED FROM THE PLOT IN FIGURE 33.	44
FIGURE 35. THEORETICALLY CALCULATED J-V-T CURVES (SOLID LINE) FOR THE RU/GAN DEVICE BETWEEN 170K AND 330K USING	
EQUATION (36) AND THE VALUES EXTRACTED FROM THE PLOT IN FIGURE 33.	44
FIGURE 36. THEORETICALLY CALCULATED J-V-T CURVES (SOLID LINE) FOR THE RUO2/GAN DEVICE BETWEEN 170K AND 330K USING	
EQUATION (36) AND THE VALUES EXTRACTED FROM THE PLOT IN FIGURE 33.	45
FIGURE 37. THE MODIFIED RICHARDSON PLOTS FOR THE PT (TOP), RU (MIDDLE) AND RUO2 (BOTTOM) SCHOTTKY DEVICES ON GAN.	47
FIGURE 38. IDEALITY FACTOR AND BARRIER HEIGHTS FOR THE PT (TOP), RU (MIDDLE) AND RUO2 (BOTTOM) SCHOTTKY DIODES EXTRA	CTED.
FROM LOWER BIAS REGIONS RANGING IN TEMPERATURE BETWEEN 170K AND 330K.	51

# List of Tables

TABLE 1. TABLE SHOWING ELECTRICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF III-NITRIDES AND VARIOUS SEMICONDUCTORS [12, 13]	3
TABLE 2. LIST OF COMMON SUBSTRATES FOR III-NITRIDE EPITAXIAL GROWTH AND THEIR PROPERTIES [13]	9
TABLE 3. LIST OF COMMON TCO'S AND THEIR PROPERTIES.	19
TABLE 4. THREE EQUATIONS USED TO EXTRACT THE IDEALITY FACTOR AND SERIES RESISTANCE FROM A SINGLE I-V CURVE [75]	21
TABLE 5. SUMMARY OF EXTRACTED DATA FOR THE NI/GAAS SCHOTTKY DIODES	33
TABLE 6. SUMMARY OF DATA EXTRACTED FOR DEVICES FABRICATED ON THE 140128-1 GAN MATERIAL	48
TABLE 7. EXPERIMENTAL VALUES OF A* [65]	59

# 1 Introduction

III-nitride based semiconductors such as aluminum nitride (AIN), gallium nitride (GaN), and indium nitride (InN) have been known for their exceptional electrical, optical and thermal properties. These materials have proven their usefulness in areas such as high-speed electronics, power electronics, and optoelectronics. As a result of the large bandgap, III-nitride semiconductors have low intrinsic carrier concentrations, high saturation-electron drive velocity and high breakdown fields. The bandgap can also be tightly controlled between 0.7 eV for InN to 6.2 eV for AIN with good lattice matching making it ideal for complex optoelectronic devices. These semiconductors have shown good thermal and radiation resistant properties. Although there is still work to be done on maximizing the potential of III-nitride semiconductors, the promise they show in replacing current state-of-the art devices has attracted a lot of attention.

In GaN Heterojunction Field Effect Transistors (HFET) one of the most important interfaces is the gate metal to semiconductor junction. In an HFET this is normally a Schottky barrier structure used to modulate the 2-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) below the surface effectively switching the transistor on and off. A Schottky barrier is the unique effect that occurs when a metal is placed in intimate contact with a semiconductor whose electron affinity is smaller than the metal work function. A rearrangement of charge on the surface of the semiconductor creates an energy barrier at the metal-semiconductor (MS) junction leading to rectification in the current voltage characteristics. Because GaN HFET's are normally-on devices a Schottky gate with minimum leakage current is necessary. This makes characterization of both the metal material and interface with the semiconductor critical to obtain the best switching characteristics of the transistor.

The transparent conductive oxide (TCO), Ruthenium dioxide, has proven to be a good candidate for Schottky contacts to GaN due to its larger work function (>5eV), high electrical conductivity (~40 $\mu$ Ω·cm), and good thermal stability. Additionally, ruthenium dioxide is optically transparent introducing the possibility of optically characterizing the interface and subsurface properties in GaN HFETs. These characteristics make RuO<sub>2</sub> an exciting material to study. In this work the author electrically characterizes RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky barriers fabricated on n-type GaN. The results of this experiment are compared to an un-annealed ruthenium Schottky contact sample along with the widely used platinum Schottky contact to GaN. In addition to qualifying the results of this experiment, the evaluation technique was first attempted on the well behaved nickel Schottky contact to GaAs to ensure validity of the approach.

# 2 Literature Review

# 2.1 Properties of III-Nitrides

The III-Nitride semiconductor group consists of Aluminum Nitride, Gallium Nitride and Indium Nitride and has been considered a promising material system for applications in light emitting/detecting devices and in high power electronics. The unique properties of some of these semiconductors such as Gallium Nitride also appeal as devices requiring normal operation at high temperatures and in the presence of radiation [1, 2]. One of the reasons there has been a large push for research on III-Nitrides is because of the well-controlled bandgap both below and well above the visible field. This allows for tightly controlled emitters and detectors that can operate from deep ultraviolet to far infrared. The comparison of bandgap with other semiconductors is seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Band gap of various semiconductors. Notice that by changing the makeup of the III-Nitride semiconductors you can modulate the bandgap greatly [3]

## 2.1.1 Crystal Properties

Unlike the other III-V semiconductors the III-Nitride semiconductors typically crystalize in the wurtzite (Wz) phase [4]. The wurtzite structure belongs to the hexagonal crystal structure and in the case of III-nitrides consists of tetrahedrally coordinated nitrogen atoms along with the respective column three atom. Each unit cell comprises of 6 atoms of the two types thus requires two lattice constants, 'c' and 'a'. The unit cell is made up of two close-packed planes each with two types of atoms stacked in the [0001] direction. Because each plane consists of two types of atoms the stacking sequence becomes AaBbAa. [5]

Although III-nitrides tend to crystallize in the wurtzite structure (as seen in Figure 2), these semiconductors can be forced into the zincblende and rock salt crystals. In the case of the zincblende structure, the tendency to relax into the wurtzite phase is overcome due to the surface structure of the substrate. This was first discovered by Mizuta et al [6] when GaN was grown at low temperatures on a (100) oriented GaAs substrate. It has also been shown that III-nitrides can be grown in zincblende on Si[7], SiC[8], MgO[9] and on (0001) oriented sapphire[10] substrates. Zincblende shows a smaller bandgap, higher electron saturation drift velocity and freedom from spontaneous/piezoelectric polarization.

However the inability to grow zincblende material void of defects leaves hexagonal GaN as the main focus of research.



#### Figure 2. Stick and ball representation of the tetrahedrally coordinated GaN crystal. [5]

The rock salt structure can only be achieved by forcing the nitride and associated column three element to bond ionically instead of covalently. Thus, this structure cannot be achieved in larger quantities via epitaxial growth and typically requires a large amount of pressure applied by a device (20 GPa for AIN) such as a diamond anvil cell [11]. Because large quantities of III-nitrides in the rock salt crystal structure is difficult to fabricate, the use in electronic devices has not been well researched.

#### 2.1.2 Electrical Properties

III-nitrides are heavily studied not only because of their favorable material properties but also because of their electrical properties. These semiconductors have become the standard in optoelectronics, high frequency switching applications and high power devices. A comparison of different electrical properties of III-V semiconductors is given in Table 1.

Electrical Properties at 300K (WZ)	GaN	AIN	InN	Si	GaAs	3C-SiC	4H-SiC	6H-SiC
Band Gap (eV)	3.44	6.13	0.7	1.124 (Γ/ Δ)	1.424	<b>2.36</b> (Γ <i>X</i> )	3.23	3.0
Direct/Indirect Band Gap	Direct	Direct	Direct	Indirect	Direct	Indirect	Indirect	Indirect
Dielectric Constant	10.4	9.14	8.4	11.97	12.80	9.52	6.5	9.66
Electron Effective Mass $(m_0)$	0.22	0.3	0.11	0.191	0.063	$0.65_l/0.25_t$	$0.29_l$ /0.42 <sub>t</sub>	$2.0_l/0.42_t$
Breakdown Field (V/cm)	$5 \cdot 10^{6}$	(1.2 to 1.8) · 10 <sup>6</sup>	-	$3\cdot 10^5$	$4 \cdot 10^5$	106	(3 to 5) · 10 <sup>6</sup>	(3 to 5) · 10 <sup>6</sup>
Electron Mobility $(cm^2/Vs)$	900	300	250	1450	9000	510	948	480
Intrinsic Carrier Concentration (cm <sup>-3</sup> )	Between $5 \cdot 10^{19}$ and $5 \cdot 10^{16}$	$2.47 \cdot 10^{-32}$	$1.34 \cdot 10^{13}$	1.02 • 10 <sup>10</sup>	2.1 · 10 <sup>6</sup>	0.39	2.92 · 10 <sup>-8</sup>	$1.92 \cdot 10^{-4}$

Table 1. Table showing electrical characteristics of III-nitrides and various semiconductors [12, 13]

The unique electrical characteristics of III-nitrides have played a huge role in furthering the technological advancement in both power and high frequency electronics. In these fields it's the materials limitations that define the range of operation in which an ideal device can be pushed. In power electronics, one of the limiting factors of devices is the breakdown electric field which dictates both the size and the voltage range that a device can safely operate. Materials with larger bandgaps, such as in the case of GaN and AIN, are able to sustain high electric fields before breaking down. The intrinsic carrier

concentration and its dependence on temperature also play a larger role in power electronics. At elevated temperatures, the device can no longer operate once the intrinsic carrier concentration becomes comparable to the doping. Ill-nitrides also have favorable characteristics in terms of electron mobility and saturation velocity which make them ideal in high frequency switching applications.

## 2.1.3 Optical Properties

Optical applications for III-nitrides span a wide variety of devices, including visible range diode lasers, LED's, solar cells and photodetectors. III-nitrides became a very good candidate for optoelectronics because of their large bandgap sizes and direct bandgaps [14]. Also, the binary alloys GaN, AlN, and InN can be grown in different concentrations so that bandgaps between 6.13eV and 0.7eV can be created, giving them the ability to emit/detect wavelengths of light between 202nm to 1771nm.

The first fabricated LED was documented in 1907 when Round [15] discovered that various color light could be emitted from a SiC crystal at voltage biases as small as 10 volts. The nitride semiconductor material system wasn't looked at until it was realized that, if implemented properly, they could be used to emit light in the UV range. Although, the first LED was documented in 1907, it wasn't until 1971 that electroluminescence was proven in GaN [16]. One of the reasons why the development of III-nitride optical devices took this long was because of the difficulty in fabricating high quality crystalline samples. When GaN was grown, it was naturally n-type material and took a great deal of effort to p-type dope it high enough to counteract the intrinsic carriers. In fact, these problems still exists today and will be addressed in a later section.

# 2.2 Growth of III-Nitrides

[5] The growth of quality III-nitride semiconductors has been in development for more than 50 years and still requires work to compete with its silicon counterpart. It has been said that the current state of growth techniques can be contributed to a handful of breakthroughs including, the first synthesis of AIN [17], GaN [18] and InN [19], the first electronics-grade epitaxial deposition of GaN [20], the incorporation of a buffer layer [21, 22], and finally the successfully p-type doping of GaN [23]. The three main methods that have traditionally been used to grow III-nitride crystalline material include hydride vapor phase epitaxy (HVPE), organometallic vapor phase epitaxy (OMVPE), and molecular beam epitaxy (MVE). These methods and the materials required to fabricate these crystals are covered in the following sections.

# 2.2.1 Methods

Because no cost efficient native substrates exist for use in III-nitride growth like it does for standard semiconductors, vapor phase epitaxy (VPE) has been favored as the primary means of depositing GaN, AIN and InN. VPE consists of taking a carefully chosen substrate and exposing it to one or more reactive gases. Once the two come into contact, the gases decompose on the substrate in an epitaxial fashion thereby allowing crystalline films of controlled thickness to be deposited. There exist many types of VPE all of which are referred to by the type of source gas used for deposition. For example, if a source containing the column V element nitrogen and a hydride (such as in the case of ammonia,  $NH_3$ ) is flowed over the column III melt, the process is termed hydride vapor phase epitaxy (HVPE). Additionally, two gasses can be combined where one is an organic compound containing a column III element. This process

is referred to as organometallic vapor phase epitaxy (OMVPE) or metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD). HVPE is popular for use in depositing thicker layers, large enough to delaminate from the substrate for use as a self-supporting sample. OMVPE has shown to produce higher quality films and abrupt heterojunctions and thus has become the most widely used growth technique for optoelectronic devices. A mixture of these two methods has also shown to decrease the defect density of films through the use of a buffer layer in what is known as a two-step process. Both HVPE and OMVPE along with the two-step process are discussed in the following sections [5].

#### 2.2.1.1 Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy

HVPE has become one of the major methods of growing III-V semiconductors after the development of halide precursor techniques were applied to GaAs in the late 1960s. Extensive research was done on the development of HVPE growth conditions and substrate type for high growth rate but was almost phased out in the 1980s when it seemed impossible to create GaN films with low enough defect densities to allow p-type doping. It wasn't until the two-step growth process originally developed for OMVPE was applied to HVPE along with a successful p-type doping method that HVPE became more popular [24].

A precursor is required for each element in the III-nitride material system to assist in the deposition on a substrate. In the case of GaN, the gallium precursor is created by flowing hydrogen chloride gas over a gallium melt to create GaCl. The possible reactions are shown below:

$$2Ga_{liq} + 2HCl_{gas} \leftrightarrow 2GaCl_g + 2H_{2_{gas}}$$
(1)

$$GaCl_{gas} + 2HCl_{gas} \leftrightarrow GaCl_{3_{gas}} + H_{2_{gas}}$$
 (2)

Next, the group V precursor, ammonia in the case of GaN, is fed into the chamber using a separate line so that the mixing with the column III precursor can be properly contained. Inside the chamber, the gasses are combined in the mixing region of the tool and then the products of the reactions are expelled into the substrate region of the tool. The two possible mixing reactions are shown below [24]:

$$GaCl_{gas} + NH_{3_{gas}} \leftrightarrow GaN + HCl_{gas} + H_{2_{gas}}$$
(3)  

$$3GaCl_{gas} + 2NH_{3_{gas}} \leftrightarrow 2GaN + GaCl_{3_{gas}} + 3H_{2_{gas}}$$
(4)

## 2.2.1.2 Organometallic Vapor Phase Epitaxy

Although the discovery of OMVPE has been disputed, most credit has been given to the first published technical article by Manasevits [36]. Manasevits showed that the growth of single crystal Gallium-V films could be grown on GaAs by mixing an organic gallium compound (triethylgallium or

trimethlygallium) with the respective group V hydride and transmitting the vapors to the deposition chamber. Because two methods for creating single crystalline III-V semiconductors existed both of which could be scaled for industrial use, the popularity was determined by the quality of material produced in each method. It was the exhibition of high purity GaAs using OMVPE [37] and its success in minority carrier devices such as LED's [38], solars cells [39], photocathodes [40] and lasers [41] that ultimately lead to the decline in popularity of HVPE and increase in the industrial use of OMVPE for III-V semiconductor growth. Additionally, the OMVPE method has been shown to produce almost atomically abrupt junctions of quality comparable to the MBE process [42].

As stated earlier, if one or more metalorganic liquids are used the process is termed organometallic or metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy. Typically the metal organic solutions are liquid at room temperature thus allowing a carrier gas to be bubbled through them. The resultant vapors are mixed and transported to the deposition chamber. The OMVPE process requires a pyrolytic process to decompose and deposit epitaxially on the surface of the substrate, therefore the substrate is heated while the walls of the reactor are chilled. This maximizes the decomposition flux at the surface of the substrate while minimizing the growth on the walls of the reactor.

As with HVPE, OMVPE is a complicated process made simpler with the examination of macroscopic growth effects due to the variation of growth parameters. Initially, the growth process was treated as an art where knobs and buttons were tweaked until quality film was produced. This is because originally the growth process was not well understood until examination of the dependence on growth parameters uncovered the fundamental growth process. Upon variation of the growth temperature it was found that the rate of growth increased at low temperatures, peaked and then began to decrease with high temperature. It was then determined that the process was kinetically and thermodynamically limited at low and high temperatures respectively. Next, it was found that the peak was modulated through the variation of gas velocity, indicating this region was limited by the rate of precursor arrival to the substrate (also known as mass transport limited). Thus, to optimize the growth rate, the substrate must be held at temperatures where the process is mass-transfer limited instead of thermodynamically or kinetically limited. The Arrhenius plot below shows each growth-limiting regime [42].





Typical organometallic precursors for III-nitride growth include trimethylgallium (TMGa- $(CH_3)_3Ga$ ), trimethylindium (TMIn- $(CH_3)_3In$ ), and trimethylaluminum (TMAI- $(CH_3)_3Al$ ) with ammonia as the nitride precursor [43]. In the case of III-nitride growth, ammonia is very thermally stable this a very high temperature on the order of 550°C for In and 1000°C must be reached before quality crystalline films can be achieved. The heat required to facilitate the reduction of the ammonia molecule in conjunction with high nitrogen vapor pressure causes loss of nitrogen at the surface of the film. Thus the V/III precursor flow ratio is very large to prevent large densities of nitrogen vacancies.

#### 2.2.1.3 Buffer Layer

As mentioned previously, no native substrates exist for the epitaxial growth of II-nitrides so a foreign substrate of desired crystal structure and similar lattice constants is required. This lattice mismatch causes defects at the film/substrate boundary that can propagate vertically through the film, as seen in Figure 4. These defects manifest themselves as wide X-ray rocking curves, rough surfaces, high electron concentrations (up to  $10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ), and a luminescesce spectra with a considerable yellow emission. One successful defect engineering technique consists of growing a buffer layer designed to be lattice matched to the film. The number of dislocations at the surface of the buffer layer decreased as the buffer layer thickness was increased as seen in Figure 4. The surface of the buffer layer can then act as a highly lattice matched substrate for higher quality grown films via epitaxy. Annealing the buffer layer immediately after its growth has also been shown to contribute to the reductions of dislocation densities. However, the defect density will saturate with increased time making longer annealing times useless. In the case of GaN, electron concentrations of hexagonally grown films deposited directly on sapphire could approach  $10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  while the implementation of a buffer layer could bring the concentrations within the non-degenerate region with concentrations around  $10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  [5].



Figure 4. The threading dislocation density vs. thickness of grown buffer layer from [43]

#### 2.2.2 Substrates

III-nitride device development has been greatly impeded by the inability to grow nearly perfect crystal material which translates into materials with large intrinsic carrier concentrations, surface defects, and poor physical properties at the substrate/film barrier. Because III-nitrides currently have no readily available native substrates, an epitaxial process on a latticed matched and thermally matched substrate is required to get the highest quality material. The overall density of defects and the compatibility of a film with the substrate depends on the thermal expansion, the lattice constant, and chemical compatibility between the two material systems [44]. If the thermal expansion between the film and

substrate is too large then, during cooling, the semiconductor film will crack and separate. Additionally, a film needs to be carefully matched to the crystal structure and lattice constant of a substrate. In the case of GaN, depending on the crystallinity of the substrate, it can be grown zinc-blende or in the wurtzite crystal structure [5]. This characteristic can be very useful since each structure has its own unique properties. For example the wurtzite phase has a larger bandgap than the zincblende structure and shows a larger piezoelectric polarization. On the other hand the zincblende structure has a much smaller piezoelectric polarization when strained which is useful in optoelectric applications. Finally, the chemical compatibility between the two materials needs to be ideal so that the growth process can begin.

Dislocations in a semiconductor can cause a lot of problems not only affecting the physical properties of the material but also affecting the electrical properties. Although lattice mismatched substrates can be used to grow film, they introduce threading dislocations on the order of  $10^8$  to  $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> which start at the substrate/film boundary and propagate to the surface of the film. A threading dislocation provides a path for impurities to diffuse directly into the semiconductor which in turn can create a highly conductive vertical path while impeding transport horizontally. In optical devices this manifests itself as a larger dark current in detectors and lower quantum efficiency in emitters and in the case of electrical devices these dislocations can cause higher gate leakage current and output conductance's [5].





Sapphire substrates are typically used to grow III-nitrides because of its low electrical conductivity and high thermal conductivity making it ideal as a platform for power devices. Also, the cost of sapphire substrates is substantially lower than other options such as SiC. III-nitrides have traditionally been on sapphire substrates oriented with a (0001) surface structure but growth has also been reported on the ( $21\overline{3}1$ ), ( $110\overline{1}$ ), ( $1\overline{1}02$ ), and the ( $11\overline{2}0$ ) surfaces. Growth has also been presented on Si, NaCl, GaP, InP, SiC, W, ZnO, MgAl<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>, TiO<sub>2</sub>, and MgO substrates [5]. Table 2 lists the Properties for common substrates used in epitaxial III-nitride growth.

	Sapphire	GaN	GaN	Si	4H-SiC	6H-SiC	ZnO
Crystal Structure	rhombohedral	hexagonal	zincblende	diamond	Hexagonal	Hexagonal	hexagonal
$a_0$ (Å)	4.758	3.189	4.52	5.431	3.07	3.08	3.2496
$c_o$ (Å)	12.991	5.186	-	-	10.05	15.12	5.2065
Thermal Conductivity (W/cm·K)	0.3-0.5	1.3	1.3	1.3	3.7	4.9	0.3-0.4
Thermal Expansion (° $C^{-1}10^{-6}$ )	8.3	$5.59_a/3.17_c$	4.59 [46]	2.6	-	4.3	-
Bandgap (eV)	9.9	3.39	3.2	1.12	3.23	3.0	-
Mismatch w/ GaN	+49.2%	0%	-	-	3.63%	3.36%	+1.9%

Table 2. List of common substrates for III-nitride epitaxial growth and their properties [13]

## 2.2.3 Doping

A requirement for electronic devices is the use of finely controlled doping to modulate the Fermi level throughout a bulk semiconductor. In GaN typical n-type dopants include C, Si, and Ge sitting on Ga sites or Se on N sites which act as donors. P-type dopants in GaN include Be, Mg, Ca, Zn, and Cd on Ga sites and C, Si, and Ge on Ga sites. In the case of impurities, a low ionization energy and low formation energy is required to have a high probability of incorporating said dopant. C<sub>Ga</sub>, Si<sub>Ga</sub>, and Ge<sub>Ga</sub>, have ionizations energies of 34.0, 30.8, and 31.1 meV respectively and formation energies of 5.7-6.5, 0.9, and 2.3 eV in Ga-rich conditions respectively. Thus, Si<sub>Ga</sub> is best suited for n-type doping. For acceptor impurities Be<sub>Ga</sub> and Mg<sub>Ga</sub> have been determined as the best candidates for acceptor impurities however, because Be is a smaller atom, the ability for it to replace Ga and sit in interstitial sites creates a double donor. This makes Mg the favorable impurity for p-type doping.

Typically one of the biggest challenges in GaN based device development is the seemingly insurmountable n-type background carrier concentration. As stated previously, early unintentional electron concentrations ranged anywhere between  $10^{18}$  and  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> making the creation of p-type material seem impossible. Any effort effectively compensated the high electron concentrations creating a highly resistive film. Early attempts at using Mg failed primarily for two reasons, the inclusion of hydrogen (ammonia precursor) passivated the Mg atoms and heavily Mg-doped GaN can induced self-compensation through the inclusion of donor defects. It was later found during the cathodoluminescence of Mg-doped GaN that a low energy electron beam irradiation treatment caused the H-Mg molecules to dissociate allowing the hydrogen atom to diffuse to the surface and reacts with an ambient gas such as N<sub>2</sub>. Additionally, this process can be mimicked through the use of a high temperature annealing at temperatures in excess of 600°C or by UV illumination at temperatures above 500°C. [5]

# 2.3 Schottky Contacts

# 2.3.1 Background

The discovery of the first rectifying contact has been attributed to Ferdinand Braun during his attempts to use metal contacts on a semiconductor for electrolysis on the study of minerals in 1874. It was realized that as the polarity of voltage on this point contact rectifier was changed, the resistance would drastically increase or decrease accordingly. This effect of rectification was not well understood until Wilson published his theory of charge transport in semiconductors and insulators [47]. It was 7 years later, in 1938, that the theory of rectification was explained independently by three scientist, Davydov [48], Mott [49], and Schottky [50] however it was Mott that correctly predicted the direction of rectification. Although Mott derived the diffusion and drift currents of the majority carrier, his theory was

based on the principle that the space-charge region was absent of ions, making the electric field in this region constant. Motts' theory was later extended by Schottky and Spenke by substituting a semiconductor absent of donor ions with a semiconductor having spatially constant donor ions. This then corrected Motts initial theory of a constant electric field present in the space-charge region to one having a linearly decaying electric field. Schottkys' extension of Motts' theory predicted a barrier at the metal-semiconductor (MS) junction later known as a Schottky Barrier thus prematurely labeling metal-semiconductor rectifiers as Schottky Diodes. Although more developed, the Schottky-Mott rectification theory predicted the incorrect current limiting mechanism and current-voltage equation. In 1942 Hans Bethe made the most recent contribution to the metal-semiconductor diode model by correctly predicting thermionic emission to be the current limiting mechanism and thus deriving the current-voltage relationship that is used today.

#### 2.3.2 Metal-Semiconductor Interface Models

#### 2.3.2.1 Schottky-Mott Theory

To model the theoretical Schottky junction we can consider a non-interacting large work-function metal and n-type semiconductor whose surfaces are electrically identical to their bulk properties, Fig 1(a). If a conductive path is made between these two surfaces, electrons will flow from the semiconductor into the metal, thermal equilibrium will be reached and the two Fermi levels will line up, Fig 1(b). If the two surfaces are brought closer together, positive charge will begin to buildup on the semiconductor and negative charge on the metal so that thermal equilibrium is maintained, Fig 1(c). At a separation comparable to atomic spacing the electrostatic potential just outside of the metal and semiconductor becomes equivalent. From the figure below it's obvious that the barrier height as seen by electrons entering the semiconductor is  $\phi_B = \phi_m - \chi_S$  [51, 52], where  $\phi_m$  is the workfunction of the Schottky metal and  $\chi_S$  is the electron affinity of the bulk semiconductor.



Figure 6. Energy band diagram of MS contact. When separated (a) the materials don't interact. Then as they are brought closer (b) the Fermi levels line up and the density of states at the semiconductor surface shift to compensate for the electric field. The gap is (c) and finally (d) becomes zero [51]. The last figure (e) shows an ideal SB with detailed energy levels labeled [53].

Accordingly, it is expected that the barrier height can be modulated linearly such that

$$S \equiv \frac{\partial \phi_B}{\partial \phi_m} = 1 \tag{5}$$

also known as the Schottky-Mott limit. However, it has been shown experimentally that the barrier height is usually much less dependent on the metal work-function (S < 1). This phenomenon was first explained

as a coercion of the Fermi level in the semiconductor caused by some electric field at the interface. Bardeen first modeled this by assuming the field at the surface was due to either the termination of the crystal or the inclusion of impurities at the surface causing a charge-neutral level ( $E_0$ ) in the bandgap. Sze and Cowley further developed this idea and derived the barrier height dependence with an atomic interfacial layer that is transparent to electrons with energy greater than the barrier height and charge density dependence on the semiconductor only. The equation takes the form of the following,

$$\phi_B = S(\phi_m - \chi) + (1 - S)\phi_{bno}$$

$$S = \left[1 + \frac{e^2 N\delta}{\varepsilon_0}\right]^{-1}$$
(7)

where  $\phi_{bno}$  is the pinned barrier height, q is the charge of an electron, N is the density of charge in the interface at  $E_0$ ,  $\varepsilon_0$  is the permittivity of the interface layer, and  $\delta$  is the thickness of the interfacial layer. Thus, the variation of the metal work-function is fully or partially negated by the screening of a thin charged interfacial layer at the MS junction [51].

#### 2.3.2.2 MIGS

Early metal-semiconductor junctions were fabricated by pressing metal onto a semiconductor so that the probability of a thin oxide and impurity layer forming at the interface was high thus confirming Bardeens theory of an interfacial dipole layer. However, Heine noted that MS junctions fabricated by depositing metal vapors onto a freshly cleaved semiconductor plane still produced insensitive barrier height with respect to metal workfunction. This is also consistent by examining the effect of a vanishing interfacial layer thickness,  $\delta$ , in the above equation for S [54].

Heine proposed instead that FLP was due to the probability of electron population just outside a metal surface vanishing exponentially inside of the semiconductor [54]. Although the probability of metal electrons spilling into the semiconductor decays exponentially, the magnitude is still great enough to screen the bulk charge neutral energy level (CNL) on the order of 10Å from the interface. The states at the interface were later referred to as metal induced gap states (MIGS) by Tersoff who improved model by calculating the pinning level ( $E_0$ ) through the use of Green's function. His results showed that  $E_0$  fell at the energy point where states in the forbidden gap transition from donor-like near the valence band to acceptor-like near the conduction band also known as the branch point energy. The model was shown to be in agreement with experimental results at the time [55]. Interestingly, this model can be related to Equations (6) and (7) by redefining the interfacial layer thickness,  $\delta$ , as the penetration depth of the metal electron wavefunctions and the density, N, as the density of MIGS at the pinning energy  $E_0$ .

Exploiting the relationship between the product  $\delta \cdot N$ , the bandgap and the electronic contribution to the dielectric constant,  $\varepsilon_{\infty}$ , Mönch showed that an equation for *S* depending solely on the material properties of the semiconductor could be successfully fit to experimental data. The slopes dependence on  $\varepsilon_{\infty}$  can be understood by noting that the depth and density of charge at the interface rely on the permittivity of electric fields in the semiconductor. Equation (8) effectively sets the theoretical barrier height of each semiconductor when only the MIGS interface model contributes to the pinning of the Fermi level in the interface and no second order inefficiencies exist.

$$S = [1 + 0.1(\varepsilon_{\infty} - 1)^2]^{-1}$$
(8)

#### 2.3.2.3 UDM

Although the MIGS model supported the data, it did not explain metal-semiconductor barriers with a slope, *S*, different than that expected from the semiconductor electronic permittivity. Spicer et al. theorized that defects native to the semiconductor could pin the Fermi level especially in III-V semiconductors where atomic antisites could drastically change the donor or acceptor concentration at the surface. This paradigm became known as the unified defect model (UDM) [56].

Attempting to study the barrier height formation, Spicer et al. deposited various thicknesses of metal ranging from 0.001 ML (monolayer) to 10 ML onto a GaAs substrate. Using photoemission spectroscopy (PES) it was found that the Fermi level on n-type GaAs would decrease from the conduction band to a pinned level at around 0.75 eV from the valence band maximum (VBM) as the deposited atom increased from a 0 ML to 0.1 ML coverage. Likewise for a p-type sample, the Fermi level would increase from the valence band at 0 ML and pin at 0.5eV from the VBM upon reaching 0.1 ML atomic coverage. The unified defect model simply stated that a donor-like defect must be present in the band gap at 0.75eV from the VBM while an acceptor-like defect must exist at 0.5eV in from the VBM both of which must be induced by the deposition of atoms on the surface. Ga and As vacancies were thought to be the cause of pinning at these levels [57].



Figure 7. UDM predicted that surface defects states normally pasivated through surface reconstruction, as seen in A), could be brought back into the bandgap during metal deposition. In B) it can be seen that at very small surface densities of metal atoms, the surface Fermi level seems originate from either the valence band for p-type material or the conduction band for n-type material and pin at 0.5eV or 0.75eV from the valence band respectively [57].

The advanced unified density model (AUDM) expanded on the origin of these positions in GaAs. Since the surface of a cleaved GaAs plane could reconstruct itself to minimize dangling bond defects, it was theorized that the addition of deposited metal atoms on GaAs caused As antisites (As<sub>Ga</sub>). The idea seemed solid since the ionization energies of the As<sub>Ga</sub> double donors fall at 0.52 and 0.75eV with respect to the valence band however, it was later found that the deposited layers were actually unconnected islands and did not behave metallically. If deposition was instead done at low temperatures allowing for a uniform layer to be deposited the pinning level of both p- and n-type GaAs coincided with pinning due to the electronegativity of the metal [58].

#### 2.3.2.4 DIGS

Utilizing photocapacitance transient spectroscopy (PCTS), Hasegawa and Ohno showed a pinning level dependence on the charge neutral level in not only metal-semiconductor (MS) interfaces but also semiconductor-semiconductor (SS) and insulator-semiconductor (IS) interfaces. Experiments were done on MIS structures. Results showed that the density of defect states ( $N_{SS}$ ) at the surface of the semiconductor were U-shaped with a minimum and curvature strongly dependent on the insulator type and processing parameters, seen in Fig 6. However, the energy at which  $N_{SS_{MIN}}$  was found only varied by ±0.5eV and was determined solely by the semiconductor type. The origin for this continuum of states in the band gap was said to be the bonding disorder in the interface. The model became known as the disorder induced gap states model (DIGS).



Figure 8. The a) theoretical layer structure at an IS or MS interface and the b) density of states in the gap as a function of energy. DIGS predicts the curvature and magnitude of the U-shaped density of states graph depends on the amount of disorder at the interface. Three levels of disordering are shown I) a good IS interface II) a bad IS interface and III) a typical MS interface [59].

The DIGS model states that the bonding at the either an MS or IS interface will not be ideal and bond lengths along with angles will be perturbed from their ideal orientations. This effect causes a continuum of bonding (donor-like) and antibonding (acceptor-like) states in the gap where the density of states depends on the magnitude of disorder in the interface. Also, the pinning level can be found at the minimum of the U-shaped density of states where the states change from acceptor-like closer to the valence band to donor-like near the conduction band. Pinning occurs due to the fact that coercing the Fermi level at the surface could cause a very large uncompensated charge density at the interface.

Hasegawa and Ohno point out that in most MS interfaces there exists a very thin oxide insulator layer and because the MIGS evanescent tails penetrate 1.5 to 4Å, DIGS becomes the best method of explaining FLP due to its' explanation of disorder in the IS interface. However, it should be noted that at intimate MS interfaces it's likely that the MIGS and DIGS charge neutrality levels are very close and cannot be used to determine the most suitable model [59].

#### 2.3.2.5 Bond Polarization Model

Although it is likely that barrier height variation has a dependence on chemical bonding, very little attention has been given to finding a quantitative solution for bonding induced interface dipoles until a recent paper by Tung. In this paper he shows that by altering the original Schottky-Mott equation with an additional term whose dependence is on the charge density and CNL and relating this density to charge transfer at the MS interface, agreement has been found with experimental data. Assuming only interactions between the closest neighbors in either the semiconductor or metal planes, Tung found an

expression for the charge transfer,  $Q_M$ , which he then related to the barrier height of experimental data [60]. The derived equations for total charge transfer and the revised barrier height function are as follows:

$$Q_{M} = \frac{\phi_{M} - \chi_{S} - E_{g}/2}{E_{g} + \kappa}$$
(9)  
$$\Phi_{B,n}^{0} = \gamma_{B}(\phi_{M} - \chi_{S}) + (1 - \gamma_{B})\frac{E_{g}}{2}$$
(10)

Here,  $\phi_M$  is the metal work function,  $\chi_S$ , is the semiconductor electron affinity,  $E_g$  is the bandgap of the semiconductor and  $\kappa$  is the hopping interaction. The term  $\gamma_B$  has been related to the slope of variation of the barrier height has been found to be

$$\gamma_B = 1 - \frac{q^2 d_{MS} N_B}{\varepsilon_{it} (E_g + \kappa)} \tag{11}$$

where  $d_{MS}$  is the bonding length between metal and semiconductor atoms,  $N_B$  is the density of bonds at the interface and  $\varepsilon_{it}$  is the dielectric constant of the interface region estimated as  $2\varepsilon_{\infty}$ . Using data from [61], Tung showed that this method was in good agreement with experimental data.

#### 2.3.3 Image-Force Barrier Lowering

As shown in the previous section, addition of charges at the interface will induce an electric field which in turn causes a perturbation of the barrier height. A similar perturbation of the barrier height is caused by the image-force of the metal surface as seen by carriers near the surface of the semiconductor in intimate MS contacts. The image-force can be described by considering a metal surface in vacuum. As an electron approaches the metal from the semiconductor bulk an electric field perpendicular to the surface is induced. The same field could be modeled with a positive charge equidistant from the surface inside the metal as the electron is from the surface in vacuum. Therefore, the electron begins to feel a larger attractive potential as it approaches the metal surface. The total potential energy is found by integrating this image-force from infinity to its current location and adding an external potential pointing in the direction toward the metal from vacuum. The figure below shows magnitude of fields due to the image-force, an external field and the total potential energy [51].



Figure 9. The above diagram shows the vacuum level energy band and the perturbation due to the effect of image-forces and external bias on charges in the vicinity of the metal surface [51].

A similar effect is seen in Schottky barrier heights as seen above in the vacuum level energy band. Because the barrier height and the point where the barrier height is at its peak surface is a function of electric field, or applied bias, measurement methods that assume ideal voltage-independent barrier heights require addition consideration. This will be discussed further in Section 3.2.1.

#### 2.3.4 Homogeneous Barrier Height

Ideally when a metal comes in direct contact with a semiconductor, a laterally homogenous interface is formed and the Fermi level of the metal and semiconductor align. In an n-type semiconductor, electrons close to the junction are unable to screen the electric field generated by the metal surface. Equilibrium is reached when the density of states (DOS) in the semiconductor at the surface shift and atoms near the junction ionize and compensate the electric field. This process is depicted in Figure 6.

In a homogenous Schottky barrier the atoms in the metal and semiconductor are lattice matched and no interface charge exists from defects or impurities. In this case, the Fermi level from the semiconductor lines up with that of the metal and an energy barrier ( $\phi_B$ ) is formed with the height:

$$\phi_B = \phi_m - \chi \tag{12}$$

where  $\phi_m$  is the workfunction of the metal and  $\chi$  is the electron affinity in the bulk semiconductor. Because the bending of the bands is due to a long-range spatially dependent electric field in a material with a non-varying dielectric constant, the variation of charge density is governed by Poissons' equation [53]. Once the boundary conditions are set and the definition of the band bending bias is realized, the solution for the conduction band minimum energy with respect to the Fermi level becomes:

$$\varepsilon_{CBM}(z) = \begin{cases} qV_{bi} \left(1 - \frac{z}{W}\right)^2 + qV_N + qV_a, & 0 < z < W \\ qV_N + qV_a, & z > W \end{cases}$$
(13)

where W is the depletion region, defined as

$$W = \lambda_D \sqrt{\frac{2qV_{bb}}{k_B T}},$$
 (14)

and the Debye length  $(\lambda_D)$  which is given by

$$\lambda_D = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_s k_B T}{q^2 N_D}}.$$
(15)

In the above equations  $V_{bi}$  represents the built-in voltage, z is the distance into the semiconductor from the MS interface,  $V_N$  is the energy difference between the conduction band minimum and the Fermi level in the bulk semicondcutor,  $V_a$  is the externally applied bias, and  $k_B$  is Boltzmann's constant.

#### 2.3.5 Inhomogeneous Barrier Height

When a metal and semiconductor come into direct contact the likelihood that a perfectly homogeneous interface will occur is very small. Instead, the interface at the MS junction will be made up of many mixed phase patches which results in a barrier height that varies spatially as seen in the figure below. It has also been shown that at an inhomogeneous MS junction, the magnitude of barrier height variation has a strong dependence on not only the size and density of each patch but also the potential

bias, temperature and doping concentration [62, 63]. Because these patches introduce new barrier height dependencies, anomalous measurement results can arise from ideality factors larger than unity, a temperature dependence of the ideality factor, the introduction of the so-called  $T_0$  anomaly, and a reverse-characteristic dependence on bias potential.



Figure 10. Diagram showing the barrier variation and semiconductor energy band along a 2D plane [64].

#### 2.3.6 Current Transport Mechanism

#### 2.3.6.1 Ideal Thermionic Emission

Bethes' contribution to the development of MS rectifiers was determining thermionic emission (TE) as the correct limiting transport mechanism that governs the current-voltage characteristics of the device. Bethes' theory was based off the assumptions that (1) the barrier height was larger than  $k_BT$ , the thermal energy, (2) thermal equilibrium is established at the MS junction, and (3) that drift and diffusion currents are negligible so that the quasi-fermi level for electrons remains flat throughout the depletion region. With these assumptions, a quantitative expression for the current magnitude in terms of applied bias can be made. This idealized equation for current density is given below (derivation found in Appendix A).

$$J(V_A) = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q\phi_b}{kT}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{qV_A}{k_BT}\right) - 1\right]$$
(16)

Where,

$$A^* = \frac{4\pi m^* q k^2}{h^3}$$
(17)

also known as the Richardson constant.

One assumption made in the derivation of the above thermionic emission rate limited currentvoltage relationship is that the applied voltage bias is dropped across the MS junction. In reality voltage is dropped over various series components such as the metal contacts to the semiconductor material and the junction between the two. Assuming this resistance is independent of the applied voltage, Equation (16) must be altered to show the true voltage drop across the junction. The magnitude of series resistance in a device can be easily found graphically, this process is described in Section 3.1.2.

$$J(V_A) = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q\phi_b}{k_B T}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{q(V_A - qI_{SB}(V_a)R_s)}{k_B T}\right) - 1\right]$$
(18)

Although the above equations are suitable for describing thermionic transmission over an ideal voltage-independent barrier, further consideration needs to be taken to account for non-deal properties

of the MS junction. The potential stemming from image forces shifts the peak barrier height inside the semiconductor along with establishing a slight barrier height dependence on the applied voltage. A revised equation is given below. Notice in the equations below that the saturation current density  $(J_0)$  now includes a term that describes the barrier height offset ( $\Delta \phi_{bi}$ ). The ideality factor,  $\eta$ , can be described as a catch-all for the barriers dependence on voltage originating from known and/or unknown sources. A more detailed treatment of the non-ideal current density versus voltage (J-V) relationship can be found in Appendix B.

$$J_0 = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q(\phi_{b0} - \Delta \phi_{bi})}{k_B T}\right)$$
(19)  
$$J(V_A) = J_0 \exp\left(\frac{qV_A}{\eta k T}\right) \left[1 - \exp\left(\frac{-qV_A}{k_B T}\right)\right]$$
(20)

#### 2.3.6.2 Thermionic Field Emission and Field Emission

Thermal emission over the barrier is likely the most prominent current transport mechanism in lightly doped MS junctions; however in highly doped semiconductors the smaller barrier thicknesses increase the probability of quantum tunneling. Since the lateral thickness of the barrier decreases at elevated energy levels, the tunneling probability increases, however, the density of thermally activated carriers decreases. This results in a distribution of transmitted carriers at an energy level lower than the peak barrier height which effectively manifests itself as an additional lowering of the barrier height. Current contribution from this process is known as thermionic field emission (TFE). In the case of heavily doped semiconductors where the Fermi level resides above the conduction band minimum, barrier thickness at energies near the Fermi level can allow significant tunneling. This process is known as field emission (FE) [52]. The current contribution from tunneling can be expressed as:

$$I_{TFE} = I_{S-TFE} \left[ \exp\left(\frac{qV_a}{E_0}\right) - 1 \right]$$
(21)

Where  $I_{S-TFE}$  is the saturation current for TFE and the energy  $E_0$  is given as,

$$E_0 = E_{00} \coth\left(\frac{E_{00}}{k_B T}\right) = \frac{\eta k_B T}{q}$$
(22)

The ideality factor  $\eta$  represents deviations from ideal TFE and the energy  $E_{00}$  is a characteristic of the bulk semiconductor and is given as,

$$E_{00} = \frac{e\hbar}{2} \sqrt{\left(\frac{n}{\varepsilon_s m^*}\right)}$$
(23)

where *n* represents the effective carrier concentration in the semiconductor,  $m^*$  is the electron mass in the semiconductor and  $\varepsilon_s$  is the static permittivity of the semiconductor.

It can be seen from the above equations that the domination of a particular current transport method is dictated primarily by the doping density. According to Schroder [65], TE is considered the dominate current transport process when  $E_{00} \le 0.5kT$ , TFE when  $0.5kT < E_{00} < 5kT$  and FE when  $E_{00} \ge 5kT$ .  $E_{00}$  is plotted as a function of doping density for wurtzite GaN and cubic GaAs in Figure 11. For GaN the TE to TFE transition occurs near  $7.4 \cdot 10^{16} \ cm^{-3}$  at RT and the TFE to FE transition occurs

near  $8.2 \cdot 10^{19} cm^{-3}$  at RT. For GaAs the TE to TFE transition occurs near  $3.6 \cdot 10^{16} cm^{-3}$  at RT and the TFE to FE transition occurs near  $4.2 \cdot 10^{19} cm^{-3}$  at RT. E<sub>00</sub> is plotted for GaAs and w-GaN across a wide doping density range in Figure 11.



Figure 11. E<sub>00</sub> ploted as a function of doping density. The dominant current process is shown for a room temperature device with various bulk doping densities.

## 2.4 Transparent Conducting Oxide Semiconductors

Interest in transparent conducting oxide (TCO) films has been driven by the need for conductive materials which do not block the transmission of light, a characteristic not normally found in materials due to the typical inverse dependence of electronic conductivity and optical transparency in semiconductors. Applications range from electrodes in devices such as photovoltaic's or LED-based displays to providing low emissivity transparent surfaces for energy efficient windows, both of which require conductive contacts to the surface of the device which will not impede the transmission of light either into or out of the material [66, 67]. Indium-tin-oxide (ITO) has been the industry standard in most applications however, due to the rare nature of indium along with the need of TCO's for specialized applications, research has begun focusing on alternatives.

Typical applications of a TCO require more than 80% of visible light transmission and  $<10^{-3}\Omega$ ·cm to decrease the power loss in a device. This translates to a semiconductor with a larger than  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> or higher carrier concentration and a larger than 3eV band gap [68]. Most materials that meet this requirement tend to be n-type due to the high localization of electrons to oxygen atoms around the top of the valence band. Table 3 shows a list of common TCO's and their properties.

Material	Resistivity ( $\Omega \cdot cm$ )	Transparency (%)	Туре	Deposition	Reference
$SnO_2$	$8 \cdot 10^{-4}$	80	N-type		
$In_2O_3$ : Sn (ITO)	$2 \cdot 10^{-4}$	> 80	N-type		[69]
$In_2O_3$ : Ga (IGO)	$2 \cdot 10^{-4}$	85	N-type	Couttoring	
$In_2O_3$ : F	$2 - 5 \cdot 10^{-4}$	85	N-type	sputtering	
$Cd_2SnO_4$ (CTO)	$2 \cdot 10^{-4}$	85	N-type		
$Zn_2SnO_4(ZTO)$	$1 \cdot 10^{-4}$	90	N-type		
ZnO: In	$8 \cdot 10^{-4}$	85	N-type	Spray Pyrolysis	[70]
CuAlO <sub>2</sub>	1	75	P-type		[71]
RuO	$4 \cdot 10^{-5}$	-	-	Sputtering	[72]

#### Table 3. List of common TCO's and their properties.

#### 2.4.1 Ruthenium Dioxide

It was found when Ruthenium is heated in an oxygen environment RuO<sub>2</sub> is formed and is normally deposited by reactively sputtering ruthenium in an oxygen ambient however electrodeposition, chemical vapor deposition (CVD) and thermal evaporation with annealing have also been shown to work. The film normally crystallizes in a rutile-type structure but has been shown to form into a CaCl<sub>2</sub> structure or pyrite structure under pressure and has been observed to preferentially oxidize as RuO<sub>2</sub>. Its structure leads to a larger than 5eV work function and ~40 $\mu$ Ω·cm film resistivity [72-74].

Ruthenium dioxide was first studied as an oxygen/chlorine evolution anode then its usefulness in electronic circuits became apparent. When oxidized, the film becomes more transparent at visible wavelengths and electrically conductive making it useful for contacts to optoelectronic structures such as photodetectors. In these applications it's necessary to make ohmic or Schottky contacts to the material without impeding photons entering or exiting the material thereby lowering device efficiency. In addition to its optical and electrical properties, RuO<sub>2</sub> has also been shown to be thermally stable making it suitable as a diffusion barrier in electronics requiring thermal stability at high temperatures [72].

# 3 Methods of Parameter Extraction

## 3.1 Homogenous MS Junction

As Bethe proposed, in Schottky devices the current limiting process is thermionic emission over the barrier from carriers entering the semiconductor from the metal and vice-versa as given by Equation (16). If deviation from theory occurs a more rigorous model is required to successfully explain experimental data. Assuming thermionic emission over a single barrier, Schottky devices can be characterized using the I-V, C-V and I-V-T methods detailed below.

#### 3.1.1 Thermionic Emission Parameter Extraction

Simply considering Equation (16), a cleverly plotted graph can be used to determine the saturation current (I<sub>s</sub>), barrier height ( $\phi_B^{IV}$ ), and ideality factor ( $\eta$ ). First, assuming the series resistance is negligible, the saturation current is found by plotting the I-V data on a semilog-y plot and extrapolating the y-axis intercept from a linear fit to data gathered at voltages greater than the thermal voltage. Because the plot does not start to show a linear trend until voltage values greater than the thermal voltage, a more useful method is to plot the quantity  $I/\left(\exp\left(\frac{qV_a}{kT}\right) - 1\right)$  on a semilog plot thus making the full range of data

linear [65]. Each of these methods is shown in Figure 12. Also, note that examining the slope of the fitted data produces a simple method for extracting the ideality factor ( $\eta$ ) in the form of Equation (24).



Figure 12. Two graphical methods used to extract the saturation current and ideality factor from IV data collected from an ideal Schottky device [65].

$$\eta = \frac{q}{k_B T} \left[ \frac{\partial \ln(I)}{\partial V_a} \right]^{-1}$$
(24)

Finally, using the value found for saturation current, the barrier height can be extracted. Rearranging the saturation current equation, the barrier height ( $\phi_B^{IV}$ ) takes the form of Equation (25).

$$\phi_B^{IV} = \frac{k_B T}{q} \ln\left(\frac{AA^* T^2}{I_S}\right)$$
(25)

Here the barrier height extracted from the current-voltage characteristic depends on the Boltzmann's constant  $k_B$ , temperature T, area of the schottky contact A, theoretical Richardson constant  $A^*$ , and the saturation current  $I_S$ .

#### 3.1.2 Series Resistance Parameter Extraction

Although these methods serve to quickly extract data, they fail to accurately express real world Schottky barriers which tend to suffer from series resistance and a voltage dependent barrier height. Werner [75] pointed out that both series and shunt resistance can dominate the I-V characteristics of a diode leaving only a small regime usable for extracting data. Utilizing the small signal conductance, Werner shows three graphical methods to extract the ideality factor and series resistance ( $R_s$ ). The results can then be used to modify the I-V data so that correct results for the saturation current and barrier height can be extrapolated. Although there are other methods based on the small signal conductance, Werners method does not require AC signals [76, 77] or artificial functions [78, 79].

If the thermionic emission equation is modified to account for the voltage drop across a series resistance, the effective conductance can be defined as  $G = \partial I_d / \partial V$ . Dividing the effective conductance by the diode current and plotting the result, Werner shows that a linear trend emerges allowing series resistance and ideality factor to be extrapolated from the horizontal-axis and vertical-axis intercepts respectively. Additionally, this equation can be manipulated for use in two other plots which produce linear trends with an easily extractable ideality factor and series resistance. The identities and resulting equations are shown in the table below.

	Method 1.	Method 2.	Method 3.
Identity	$G = \frac{\partial I_d}{\partial V}$	$\frac{1}{G} = R_{dr}$	$R_{dr} = \frac{1}{G} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial I_d} = \left(\frac{1}{I_d}\right) \frac{\partial V}{\partial \ln I_d}$
Equation	$\frac{G}{I_d} = \frac{\beta}{n} (1 - GR_s)$	$R_{dr} = \frac{n}{\beta I_d} + \frac{n}{\beta}$	$\frac{\partial V}{\partial \ln I_d} = R_s I_d + \frac{n}{\beta}$

Table 4. Three equations used to extract the ideality factor and series resistance from a single I-V curve [75].

Assuming the parallel resistance is much larger than the series resistance, the parallel resistance can be extrapolated by examining the reverse bias conductance (G<sub>reverse</sub>) and noting that:

$$G_{reverse} = G_p = \frac{1}{R_p}$$
(26)

#### 3.1.3 Capacitance-Voltage Parameter Extraction

Like the current-voltage measurement method, capacitance-voltage measurements are a popular method capable of accurately characterizing Schottky devices. The capacitance per unit area for an n-type Schottky diode is given by

$$\frac{C}{A} = \sqrt{\frac{q\varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 (N_D - N_A)}{2\left(V_{bi} + V - \frac{k_B T}{q}\right)}}$$
(27)

where  $V_{bi}$  is the build-in potential at the edge of the depletion region. The barrier height is the addition of this built-in potential and the energy difference between the conduction band minimum and the Fermi level ( $V_0$ ), where  $V_0 = k_B T/q \ln(N_c/n)$  assuming that  $n = (N_D - N_A)$  and all dopants are ionized. Plotting the quantity  $A^2/C^2$  versus the applied reverse bias, V, the slope and the V-axis intercept ( $V_{int}$ ) can be utilized to extract the effective free electron density and barrier height respectively [65].

$$N_D - N_A = \frac{2}{q\varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0} \left[ \frac{\partial \left( \frac{1}{(C/A)^2} \right)}{\partial V} \right]^{-1}$$
(28)  
$$\phi_B = -V_{int} + V_0 + kT/q$$
(29)

It should be noted that even in inhomogeneous junctions, the barrier height extracted from C-V measurements is identical to a homogenous junction whose barrier is the average of the laterally inhomogeneous junction. This comes about because the total space charge at the junction is controlled solely by the average barrier height and free carrier concentration near the interface [53].

#### 3.1.4 I-V-T Analysis of Homogeneous MS Junctions

In principle the Richardson constant for a semiconductor can be derived from the properties of the bulk semiconductor. However, there is large scatter among the values reported in the literature (See Appendix B.) most of which are far from the ideal value calculated from the bulk semiconductor electron

mass. Thus it has become common practice to construct Richardson plots from I-V data to extract the Richardson constant.

From Equation (16) for values of voltage much larger than  $k_B T$  the second exponential decays to zero and can be rewritten as:

$$\ln\left(\frac{I}{T^2}\right) = \ln(AA^*) - q\left(\phi_B - \frac{V}{\eta}\right)/k_B T$$
(30)

Thus a Richardson plot can be created by plotting  $\ln(I/T^2)$  versus 1/T for a voltage larger than  $k_BT$ . The value of the vertical-axis intercept is related to the Richardson constant by  $\ln(AA^*)$ . Additionally, for an ideality factor determined by other means, the barrier height can be extracted from the slope. If the ideality factor is unknown the saturation current  $(I_s)$  can be used in place of I so that  $V \rightarrow 0$  and the ideality factor term is cancelled [65].

#### 3.2 Inhomogeneous MS Junction

As mentioned in Section 2.3.5, a metal-semiconductor junction rarely forms with a barrier height that does not vary spatially within the interface plane. Assuming the spatial variation of the barrier height is small compared to the thickness of the charge neutral region, a good approximation can be made by modeling total current as the summation of current through each patch i.e. parallel diodes with different characteristics. However, if barrier height is wildly varying spatially, electric potential saddle points can form inside the semiconductor thereby requiring an even more detailed analysis.

Sullivan et al. [62] numerically simulated MS junctions with patches of inhomogeneity showing the effects of patch size, patch geometry, barrier pinning level, semiconductor doping density, applied bias, temperature, and others. It was shown that barrier height inhomogeneity, when not accounted for, can manifest itself as phenomena interpreted as thermionic field emission or as non-ideal behaviors such as discrepancy in I-V versus C-V extracted barrier heights and ideality factors larger than 1. Thus experimental I-V data alone cannot be used to definitively identify the dominant current transport mechanism in Schottky devices with ideality factors larger than unity.

#### 3.2.1 I-V-T Analysis of Inhomogeneous MS Junctions

The above approach to finding the Richardson constant assumes that a homogeneous barrier exists laterally across the whole area of the diode. Werner et al. has shown that a better approximation of the Richardson constant can be approached if the barrier height and ideality factors are expressed as a function of temperature and used to investigate the properties of a Gaussian distributed lateral barrier height inhomogeneity at the MS interface [64]. Additionally, this approach gives physical meaning to the ideality factor, normally used as an indicator of device quality, defining it as the voltage dependence of the Gaussian mean and standard deviation. Assuming that the distribution of barrier heights in fact can be described by a Gaussian distribution, the probability of finding a particular barrier height ( $P(\phi_b)$ ) can be described as,

$$P(\phi_b) = \frac{1}{\sigma_s \sqrt{2\pi}} e^{\frac{-(\bar{\phi}_{b0} - \phi_b)^2}{2\sigma_s^2}}$$
(31)

and

$$\phi_b = \bar{\phi}_{b0} - \frac{q\sigma_{s0}^2}{2k_B T} \tag{32}$$

$$\frac{1}{\eta} - 1 = \rho_2 - \frac{q\rho_3}{2kT}$$
(33)

In the equations above,  $\overline{\phi}_{b0}$  describes the mean zero-bias barrier height and  $\sigma_{s0}$  describes the zero-bias standard deviation. Plotting the extracted barrier height ( $\phi_b$ ) and ideality factor ( $\eta$ ) versus a wide range of  $q/2k_BT$  should yield a graph with linear portions each of which correspond to a patch with different Gaussian distribution characteristics. Here the variables  $\rho_2$  and  $\rho_3$  represent the dependence of the mean barrier height and standard deviation on applied bias respectively and follow the equations below.

$$\Delta \bar{\phi}_{b0} = \rho_2 \cdot V \tag{34}$$
$$\Delta \sigma_{s0}^2 = \rho_3 \cdot V \tag{35}$$

The equation for saturation current density limited by thermionic emission over a barrier height can then be rewritten to include a temperature and bias dependent barrier height.

$$J_{0} = A^{*}T^{2}e^{\frac{q\left(\overline{\phi}_{b0} + \rho_{2} \cdot V - \frac{q\sigma_{s0}^{2} + \rho_{3} \cdot V}{2kT}\right)}{k_{B}T}}$$
(36)

The Richardson plot can then be modified simply by substituting Equation (32) into (30) and replotting for each range of temperatures relating to a different patch.

$$\ln\left(\frac{I_{S}}{T^{2}}\right) - \frac{q^{2}\sigma_{s0}^{2}}{2k^{2}T^{2}} = \ln(AA^{**}) - \frac{q\bar{\phi}_{ap}}{kT}$$
(37)

As will be shown later, this method produces Richardson constants close to the predicted value for gallium arsenide and gallium nitride.

#### 3.2.2 Reverse Current-Voltage-Temperature Measurements

It has also been shown [80, 81] that a relation between reverse current and temperature can be used to shed light on reverse current conduction mechanisms. Although assumed to be constant by the thermionic emission Schottky equation, the non-ideal reverse current can be perturbed by tunneling, thought to be one of the sources of wildly varying Richardson constants in the literature. According to the following equations, the examination of reverse current can yield yet another method of determining the doping, Richardson constant and effective barrier height.

$$J_{ms} = \frac{A^*T}{k_b} \int_0^{qV_b} F_m T(\eta) (1 - F_s) d\eta$$
 (38)

$$T(\eta) = \exp\left(-\frac{\eta^{3/2}}{E_{00}\sqrt{qV_b}}\right)$$
(39)  
$$E_{00} = \left(\frac{8}{3}\sqrt{\frac{m^*\varepsilon_s}{n}}\frac{1}{q\hbar}\right)^{-1}$$
(40)

Here the current density is limited by the number of carriers able to tunneling from the metal to the semiconductor through the barrier. Equation (38) shows that this can be expressed by summing up the number of carriers at and above the conduction band minimum energy.  $F_m$  is the Fermi function of the metal,  $F_S$  is the Fermi function in the semiconductor normally approximated as zero, and  $T(\eta)$  represents the tunneling probability at some energy ( $\eta$ ) below the barrier down to the metal Fermi level. The quantity  $V_b$  represents the band built-in voltage caused by the MS junction. The characteristic energy ( $E_{00}$ ) figure describes the transparency of the barrier and depends on the electron mass ( $m^*$ ), dielectric constant ( $\varepsilon_s$ ), and effective carrier concentration (n).

#### 3.3 Measurement Acquisition

Each diode was characterized with the current-voltage-temperature (I-V-T), and the capacitance-voltage (C-V) methods. I-V characterization was executed using the Keithley 2400 source meter and temperature control was accomplished in an MMR variable temperature micro probe system under vacuum (<5 mTorr) between 170K and 330K. Capacitive measurements were taken with an HP4192A impedance analyzer at 300K under the same vacuum conditions. The equipment was connected via a GPIB interface to a computer running a LabVIEW program created by the author. Figure 13 shows the test setup located at Virginia Tech in Holden Hall Rm 307.



Figure 13. Picture of the measurement setup in Holden 307 capable of J-V-T and C-V-T measurements.

# 3.4 Device Structures and Fabrication

Fabrication of devices was executed in the Virginia Tech Micro and Nano Fabrication class 10,000 cleanroom. An overview of fabrication can be found below with a more detailed process found in Sections 7.2 and 7.4.

## 3.4.1 Ni/GaAs Device Structure

Before fabricating the Schottky diodes on GaN with a transparent conducting oxide metal, process qualifications were first carried out on GaAs. GaAs was chosen because it is well characterized in the literature and high quality samples are easier to obtain. The GaAs sample used consists of a 3.92 $\mu$ m device layer on top of a 0.65 $\mu$ m ohmic contact layer grown on a (100) oriented semi-insulating GaAs substrate by MOCVD. The effective carrier concentration by Hall was  $2.79 \cdot 10^{16} cm^{-3}$  in the device layer and 5.67  $\cdot 10^{17} cm^{-3}$  in the ohmic contact layer. In order to identify processing variability, the mask set was designed to yield approximately 144 diodes of six schottky contact areas upon the successful completion of a fabrication run. The diameters of the six schottky diodes range from 200 $\mu$ m to 450 $\mu$ m in steps of 50 $\mu$ m. The a more detailed step-by-step fabrication process can be found in Appendix C.



Figure 14. Cross-section of 120530-1 GaAs device structure used for initial Schottky diode fabrication

# 3.5 Ni/GaAs Schottky Results

Ni/GaAs devices were tested using the evaluation techniques outlined in Section 3.1 and 3.2. This was done to ensure a baseline was set using a well established material prior to applying these methods on a more complex structure. Electrical characterization of the Ni/GaAs sample is shown below and the extracted data is summarized in Table 5.

The forward J-V plot in Figure 16 shows six graphs corresponding to the six different Schottky diode diameters. Current has been normalized to current density by dividing the current at all voltages by the area of the respective Schottky contact. A good indication that current conduction happens across the MS junction and is not hindered by surface conduction is the overlapping of the experimental data over the whole voltage range. The devices show almost no variability with an average barrier height and

standard deviation of 0.889eV and 2.86meV respectively. The average ideality factor and standard deviation is 1.020 and 3.29E-3 respectively. An ideal Richardson constant of 7.56  $A \cdot cm^{-2} \cdot K^{-2}$  was assumed. Series resistance of the devices shown in Figure 16 could not be determined because the data was taken with a compliance level lower than the level at which series resistance becomes dominant.

In the reverse region, the current density was found by first taking the absolute value and then dividing experimental data by the Schottky contact area. This allows the data to be easily plotted on a semilog-y scale. The Ni/GaAs diodes show almost no voltage dependence implying that Thermionic emission is dominant however, two diodes (450um and 350um) display some parallel conduction most likely attributed to either thermionic field emission or thermionic emission over a voltage dependent barrier (image force lowering).



Figure 15. Current density vs. voltage plot of Ni/GaAs Schottky diodes varying in diameter between 200um and 450um.



Figure 16. Current density vs. reverse voltage plot of Ni/GaAs Schottky diodes varying in diameter between 200um and 450um.

As described in Section 3.1.3, analysis of experimental data gathered by C-V can yield both a barrier height and the effective carrier concentration profile close to the interface. The capacitance of the 200µm (2-9) Ni/GaAs Schottky diode was measured with an applied bias between 0.2V and -1V (not shown) using a 30mV @ 1MHz AC signal. The quantity  $A^2/C^2$  was then plotted against the applied voltage and a trend line of best fit (using least-squares) was overlaid and extrapolated to the x-axis (Figure 17). According to Equation (28) and Equation (29) the effective carrier concentration and barrier height were extracted using 12.9 for the relative dielectric constant and the density of conduction band states was taken to be  $4.7 \cdot 10^{17} cm^{-3}$ . It was found that this device had a characteristic barrier height of 0.950eV and an effective carrier concentration of  $1.40 \cdot 10^{16} cm^{-3}$ , which is in good agreement with the 2.79  $\cdot 10^{16} cm^{-3}$  concentration determined from a Hall measurement on a similarly grown single layer film.



Figure 17. A<sup>2</sup>/C<sup>2</sup> plot for the 120530-1 Ni/GaAs Mesa (2-9) devices between 0.2V and -1V. The data was overlaid with a line of best fit using least squares

The effective carrier profile was found by assuming an ideal parallel plate model and relating the capacitance to the depletion width through  $W_{dep} = \varepsilon_r \ \varepsilon_0 A/C$ , where A is taken as the area of the Schottky contact pad and the dielectric constant  $\varepsilon_r$  as 12.8. The profile can be found in Figure 18. As expected, the profile is flat between the depths of 0.25um and 0.425um from the interface with a concentration of  $1.40 \pm 0.097 \cdot 10^{16} cm^{-3}$ . To check for consistency, the extracted zero-bias depletion width was compared to the theoretically calculated value using Equations (14) and (15) and the values of 290.79nm and 291.28nm respectively prove the consistency of this approach.



Figure 18. Free carrier concentration profile derived from the slope of the A<sup>2</sup>/C<sup>2</sup> data in Figure 18.

Figure 19 shows J-V curves taken under vacuum in an MMR microprobe station between 170K and 330K in steps of 10K. The 'roll-over' at higher voltages can be attributed to series resistance in the film while the saturation at lower voltages and temperatures must be caused by parallel current leakage path but is more likely caused by the test setup. Series resistance determined by Werner's third method at temperatures between 170K and 330K varied between 9.6 $\Omega$  and 22.7 $\Omega$ . The temperature dependence of the ideality factor was plotted in Figure 20 according to Equation (22) to extract the characteristic energy and ensure that thermionic emission is the dominant transport method. The experimental data was plotted and fit using the least-squares method yielding a characteristic energy of 1.7meV, a value much smaller than  $0.5k_{B}T$  indicating that thermionic emission should be dominant.



Figure 19. J-V-T plot for the 120530-1 Ni/GaAs sample taken under vacuum between 170K and 330K



Figure 20. Characteristic energy plot for the 120530-1 Ni/GaAs device plotted between the temperatures of 170K and 330K. The experimental data (scatter) was fitted with a line using least-squares (solid).
Following the details outlined in Section 3.1.4 a Richardson plot was created and the data is shown in Figure 21 with the exception of using the saturation current density instead of current at some voltage. This was done to simplify the equation so that the effect of the ideality factor is cancelled and the area of the diode is already taken into account. The extracted barrier height and Richardson constant are 0.738eV and 0.037Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> respectively. Values for the Richardson constant found in the literature are similar to that extracted from Figure 21, however due to the deviation from the theoretical value of 8.04Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> indicate that inhomogeneity may exist.



Figure 21. Richardson plot used to extract the effective Richardson constant based on the temperature dependent saturation current density. The experimental data (scatter) is fit with a line (solid line) using least-squares.

As explained in Section 3.2, it is common to have deviation between  $\phi_B^{IV}$  and  $\phi_B^{CV}$  in addition to an extracted Richardson constant that varies greatly from the theoretical value. These inconsistencies have been explained as an inhomogeneity of barrier height laterally at the MS interface. Assuming a Gaussian distribution of barrier heights, Werner et. al. [64] used J-V curves taken at different temperatures to describe the characteristics of the inhomogeneity by quantifying the barrier height and ideality dependence on temperature. This  $\phi_B^{IV}(T)$  is used to explain the mean and standard deviation of the barrier distribution while  $\eta(T)$  is used to measure the voltage dependence of the two. This method is applied below.



Figure 22. The temperature/bias dependence of the Gaussian distributed barrier heights can be found by fitting the temperature dependence of the barrier height and ideality factor. The experimental data (scatter) is fit with a line (solid line) using least-squares.

Fitting the two lines in Figure 22, it was found that the average barrier height was 0.952eV with a standard deviation of 4.14meV. According to the ideality factor dependence on temperature the mean barrier height has a voltage dependence following  $\Delta \phi_B^{IV} = -0.023 \cdot V$  and the standard deviation follows  $\Delta \sigma_{s0}^2 = -2.99 \cdot 10^{-3} \cdot V$ . To show that the above evaluation of the device fits well with the collected experimental data the theoretical J-V-T curves are calculated using Equation (36) at each temperature and plotted with the original J-V-T calculated as show in Figure 23.



Figure 23. Theoretically calculated J-V-T curves (solid line) between 170K and 330K using Equation (36) and the values extracted from the plot in Figure 22.

Using the standard deviation of the Gaussian distribution the Richardson plot is modified and shown below in Figure 24. The linear fit of the data according to Equation (37) yielded an average barrier height of 0.948eV and a corrected Richardson constant of 6.14Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup>.



Figure 24. Modified Richardson plot using the standard deviation extracted from analysis of the barrier temperature dependence. The experimental data (scatter) was fit with a line (solid) using least-squares.

Method	Parameter	Ni/GaAs Schottky 120530-1	
I-V	Barrier Height @ 300K (eV) [Std. Deviation]	0.889 [2.86meV]	
	Ideality Factor @ 300K [Std. Deviation]	1.020 [3.29E-3]	
C-V	Barrier Height @ 300K (eV)	0.950	
	Free Carrier Concentration (cm <sup>-3</sup> )	1.40·10 <sup>16</sup>	
I-V-T	Richardson Constant A <sup>**</sup> (A/K <sup>2</sup> cm <sup>2</sup> )	0.037	
	Richardson Zero-Bias Barrier (eV)	0.738	
	Characteristic Energy E <sub>00</sub> (eV)	1.7meV : 2.36meV	
	Experimental : Theoretical		
	Average Barrier Height (eV)	0.952	
	Standard Deviation	0.064	
	$\rho_2: \rho_3$	0.023eV : 2.99meV	
	Modified Richardson Constant $A^{**}$ (A/K <sup>2</sup> cm <sup>2</sup> )	6.14	
	Modified Richardson Barrier (eV)	0.948	

Table 5. Summary of extracted data for the Ni/GaAs Schottky diodes

#### 3.6 Discussion of Evaluation Techniques

The I-V, C-V, and I-V-T Schottky evaluation techniques were first employed on Ni/GaAs samples due to the well documented and high quality characteristics of GaAs. It was found that the Ni/GaAs Schottky devices are in fact well behaved with a low series resistance and negligibly small parallel conduction in the forward region. Additionally, the overlapping nature of the current density data for all diodes indicates that the variability from processing is low. In the reverse region, most devices were observed to have a leakage current close to the noise range of the Keithley 2400 with only two of the diodes showing any conduction. The six devices were found to have an average barrier height of 0.889eV with a standard deviation of 2.86meV, a value lower than the theoretical 1.03eV barrier height but not uncommon due to Fermi pinning at the interface. The devices also had an average ideality factor of 1.02 with a standard deviation of 3.29E-3.

Examination of the C-V measurements yielded a larger barrier height of 0.950eV indicating that I-V measurements may be plagued by a non-TE transport mechanisms or that conduction could be dominated by patches of lower barrier height at the interface. In addition to the barrier height, the free carrier concentration was extracted from the slope of the  $A^2/C^2$  plot and found to be n-type with a concentration of  $1.40\pm0.097\cdot10^{16}$ . The free carrier concentration was compared to a Hall measurement done on a separate sample consisting of a single layer grown with a recipe similar to the device layer of the 120530-1 sample. Free carrier concentration by Hall measurement was found to be  $2.79\cdot10^{16}$  and in good agreement with that found by C-V. The doping profile was plotted and found to be in good agreement with the zero-bias capacitance.

In order to study the possible inhomogeneity of barrier heights at the MS interface, I-V-T measurements were taken between 170K and 330K in steps of 10K. The temperature dependent ideality factor extrapolated to yield a characteristic energy of 1.7meV, well below  $0.5k_BT$  threshold at room temperature indicating TE is the dominant conduction across the barrier. Next, the saturation current dependence on temperature (Richardson plot) was used to extrapolate a value of  $0.037Acm^{-2}K^{-2}$  which is not in agreement with theory ( $8.04Acm^{-2}K^{-2}$ ), indicating that inhomogeneity may play a role in current conduction. The barrier height (0.738eV) extracted from the Richardson plot was also low. The

Richardson plot and current conduction equation were corrected upon examination of the barrier height and ideality factor dependence on temperature to find the Gaussian distributed mean barrier height and standard deviation along with the mean and standard deviation dependence on applied bias. Once revised, the Richardson plot yielded a modified Richardson constant of 6.14 Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> which is close to the theoretically calculated value and a barrier height of 0.948eV which is in agreement with the mean barrier height, 0.952eV, calculated from the temperature dependence of the zero-bias barrier height. Finally, to check that the values obtained by assuming a Gaussian distribution of barrier heights could successfully describe experimental data, the voltage/temperature dependent barrier height formula was substituted into the Schottky TE equation and the calculations were overlaid on the experimental I-V-T plot. The overlay shows that this method is in good agreement with experimental data.

# 4 Investigation of RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky Barriers on GaN

This work focuses on RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN Schottky diodes fabricated by annealing a Ru/GaN diode in open air and the effect on parameters extracted from electrical characterization. To make a comparison, a non-RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN sample was fabricated and tested. Additionally, a Pt/GaN Schottky device was created as a comparison to the current literature. Below is a detailed analysis of the evaluation of these three devices and a summary of the extracted data is shown in Table 6.

## 4.1 Metal/GaN Device Structure

After processing and characterizing the Ni/GaAs samples the process was adapted for metal/GaN Schottky samples. The GaN devices structure consists of a 1  $\mu$ m layer on top of a 0.5 $\mu$ m buffer layer. The effective carrier concentration by C-V was  $\sim 1E17cm^{-3}$  in the device layer. These films were grown on a (0001) oriented sapphire substrate by MOCVD. The complete fabrication process is reviewed in Appendix E.



Figure 25. Cross-section of 140128 GaN device structure use for TCO Schottky experiments

# 4.2 Results of Metal/GaN Schottky Diodes

The forward characteristics of all three diodes are shown in Figure 26. Measurements were taken at room temperature (300K) for multiple devices on each sample but only the 200um devices are shown. As with the GaAs sample, the current was normalized to current density by dividing by the area of the Schottky contact. It was found that the fabricated devices have a larger variation in both barrier height and ideality factor most likely due to the defective nature of GaN. The Pt/GaN Schottky had the largest barrier height of 0.923eV while the annealed and non-annealed Ru/GaN devices had a barrier height of 0.824eV and 0.800eV respectively. An ideal Richardson constant of 24Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> was used to extract these parameters. Series resistance calculated by Werner's third method (Section 3.1.2) is 56.85 $\Omega$ , 57.10 $\Omega$ , and 55.80 $\Omega$  for the un-annealed Ru, RuO<sub>2</sub>, and Pt Schottky devices respectively.

In the reverse region, the current was normalized using the same method used for the Ni/GaAs. In contrast to the Ni/GaAs sample, these devices in Figure 27 show a voltage dependence conduction mechanism even at low voltages. The low voltage (>-0.75V) current conduction takes the form of Thermionic Field Emission and the conduction at higher voltages (<-0.75V) is still not fully understood. The noise source shown in the reverse characteristics of the Ru sample is currently unknown.



Figure 26. Experimental forward J-V data for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky diodes on GaN



Figure 27. Experimental reverse J-V data for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky diodes on GaN

The GaN Schottky samples were measured between -5V and 0.1V with a 30mV 1MHz AC signal to collect C-V data. Figure 28 shows the  $A^2/C^2$  data gathered for each of the three diodes and overlaid with a line using least-squares. The effective carrier concentration extracted from the slope of the data for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices is  $9.82\pm0.963\cdot10^{16}$ cm<sup>-3</sup>,  $9.98\pm0.036\cdot10^{16}$ cm<sup>-3</sup>, and  $1.03\pm0.139\cdot10^{17}$ cm<sup>-3</sup> respectively. The barrier heights computed from the extracted x-axis intercepts are 1.103eV, 0.813eV and 0.857eV for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> samples. Extraction of the barrier height was done assuming the relative static dielectric constant of 8.9 and a density of conduction band states of  $2.3\cdot10^{14}$ T<sup>3/2</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. The effective carrier concentration found for Schottky samples fabricated on the 140128-1 GaN material displayed concentration consistent with these values. Additionally, the value determined by Hall on a similarly grown sample was  $7.17\cdot10^{16}$ cm<sup>-3</sup>.

By analyzing the change in slope with applied voltage, the effective carrier concentration profile was resolved and plotted in Figure 29. The extracted zero-bias depletion widths for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices are 94.33nm, 84.29nm, and 85.51nm all of which agree well with theoretical values of 96.99nm, 84.36nm, and 86.00nm.



Figure 28. C-V measurements of the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky dioes. A line of least-squares fit (solid line) is overlaid on the experimental data (scatter).



Figure 29. Doping profile for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky samples on GaN

Figure 30 shows J-V curves taken between 170K and 330K in steps of 10K under vacuum for the three diodes. The series resistance was extracted for each diode for each temperature using Werner's third method. The Pt/GaN devices had an average series resistance of  $45.9\pm3.9\Omega$ , the Ru/GaN device has an average series resistance of  $58.12\pm9.79\Omega$ , and the RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN Schottky diode has an average series resistance of  $48.10\pm5.24\Omega$ . The change in resistance with temperature for all three samples showed no strong temperature dependence. Upon examination of each plot, below the series resistance dominated regions, it can be seen that two regions exist. One region at lower voltages, V<sub>A</sub><0.6V for the Pt device and V<sub>A</sub><0.3V for the Ru and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices, has a shallower slope and transitions to a steeper slope at higher voltages,  $0.6V > V_A > 0.7V$  for the Pt device and  $0.3V > V_A > 0.6V$  for the Ru and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices. This phenomenon will be explained later through a detailed analysis of temperature dependence of the barrier height and ideality factor for each region.



Figure 30. J-V-T experimental data for the Pt (top), Ru (middle), and RuO<sub>2</sub> (bottom) Schottky diodes between 170K and 330K

The characteristic energy is plotted for all three samples in Figure 31. Additionally, each diode was fit in the two voltage regions mentioned above to check the possibility of parallel conduction paths. Each figure has two plots, one of which was created from ideality factors extracted from the lower bias slope and the other from idealities extracted from the region of higher bias. It was found that the values extracted from the higher bias region of the J-V-T plot could be fit with a line using the least-squares method across the whole temperature range while the values extracted from the lower bias regions only showed linearity over a small temperature range. In all three cases the characteristic energy for the higher bias region agrees well with thermionic emission transport according to Figure 11. The extrapolated y-axis intercepts for these devices fall at or below  $0.5k_BT$ . The smaller range of linearity in the lower bias region, which the ideality is extracted from, is dominated by parallel resistance. Secondly, as the temperature is increased, the conduction component associated with the slope at higher bias regions increases more rapidly resulting in the effect in the lower bias region being masked.

Although obvious from the deviation between  $\phi_B^{IV}$  and  $\phi_B^{CV}$ , a Richardson plot (Figure 32) was created to confirm the possibility of inhomogeneity. The experimental data was fit using least-squares over the full range of temperatures. The extracted Richardson constants and barrier heights for the Pt/GaN device is  $2.81 \cdot 10^{-7}$  Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> and 0.455eV, 0.140 Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> and 0.672eV for the Ru/GaN device, and  $6.27 \cdot 10^{-3}$  Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> and 0.599eV for the RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN device respectively. Both the effective Richardson constants and extracted barrier heights are low and stray from theory indicating that thermionic emission over a single barrier height cannot explain these MS junctions.



Figure 31. Characteristic Energy plots of the Pt (top), Ru (middle), and RuO<sub>2</sub> (bottom) Schottky devices on GaN. The green scatter represents data extrapolated from the J-V curve at higher biases while the blue curve represents data extrapolated from lower biases. The line of best fit was found using least-squares method over the linear region of each dataset and overlaid on the data.



Figure 32. Richardson plots for the Pt (top), Ru (middle), and RuO<sub>2</sub> (bottom) Schottky diodes on GaN. The data (scatter) was fit with a line using least-squares (solid line) and overlaid on the plot.



Figure 33. Ideality factor and barrier heights for the Pt (top), Ru (middle) and RuO<sub>2</sub> (bottom) Schottky diodes extracted from higher bias regions ranging in temperature between 170K and 330K. The Pt device is not plotted on the same y-axis scales as the Ru and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices.

The barrier height and ideality factor temperature dependence was plotted for all three devices according to Section 3.2.1 and the experimental data is shown in Figure 33. A line of least-squares fit was overlaid on all plots along with the equation showing the slope and y-axis intercept. The mean barrier height was extracted from the y-intercept while the slope corresponds to the standard deviation of the Gaussian distributed barrier heights. The voltage dependence of the mean barrier height was found from the slope of the  $\eta^{-1}$ -1 temperature dependence while the y-intercept describes the voltage dependence of the Gaussian standard deviation. A summary of the extracted data can be found in Table 6.



Figure 34. Theoretically calculated J-V-T curves (solid line) for the Pt/GaN device between 170K and 330K using Equation (36) and the values extracted from the plot in Figure 33.



Figure 35.Theoretically calculated J-V-T curves (solid line) for the Ru/GaN device between 170K and 330K using Equation (36) and the values extracted from the plot in Figure 33.



Figure 36. Theoretically calculated J-V-T curves (solid line) for the RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN device between 170K and 330K using Equation (36) and the values extracted from the plot in Figure 33.

To check for consistency, the thermionic emission equation with voltage and temperature dependent saturation current density was calculated for all devices. The agreement of this model with experimental data is made apparent by the overlapping solid lines to with the scatter data at each temperature.

The Richardson plots were corrected using the standard deviations extracted from the barrier temperature dependences and shown below in Figure 37. Fitting the modified Richardson plots with a line using least-squares, the average zero-bias barrier height and modified Richardson constant were extrapolated from the slope and y-intercept respectively. The barrier heights of 1.204eV, 0.878eV, and 0.962eV and modified Richardson constants of 23.69Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup>, 21.09Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup>, and 23.50Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices respectively, agree well with theory and previous calculations.



Figure 37. The modified Richardson plots for the Pt (top), Ru (middle) and RuO<sub>2</sub> (bottom) Schottky devices on GaN.

Method	Parameter	Pt	Ru	RuO <sub>2</sub>
Theory	Metal Work Function (eV)	5.65	4.71	-
	Theoretical Barrier (eV)	1.55	0.61	-
J-V	Barrier Height @ 300K (eV) [Std. Deviation]	0.954 [20.4meV]	0.785 [11.8meV]	0.809 [-]
	Ideality Factor @ 300K [Std. Deviation]	1.088 [0.036]	1.071 [0.036]	1.031 [-]
C-V	Barrier Height @ 300K (eV)	1.013	0.813	0.857
	Free Carrier Concentration (cm <sup>-3</sup> )	9.82±0.963·10 <sup>16</sup>	9.98±0.036·10 <sup>16</sup>	1.03±0.139·10 <sup>17</sup>
J-V-T	Characteristic Energy (meV)	13.2	3.57	3.63
	Richardson Constant $A^{**}$ (A/K <sup>2</sup> cm <sup>2</sup> )	0.01	11.01	0.133
	Richardson Zero-Bias Barrier (eV)	0.721	0.793	0.674
	Average Barrier Height (eV)	1.205	0.880	0.963
	Standard Deviation (eV)	121.7·10 <sup>-3</sup>	63.7·10 <sup>-3</sup>	85.7·10 <sup>-3</sup>
	$ \rho_2: \rho_3 $	-0.261 :	-85.0·10 <sup>-3</sup> :	-90.0·10 <sup>-3</sup> :
		-17.6·10 <sup>-3</sup>	-6.32·10 <sup>-3</sup>	-6.45·10 <sup>-3</sup>
	Modified Richardson Constant A** (A/K <sup>2</sup> cm <sup>2</sup> )	23.69	21.09	23.50
	Modified Richardson Barrier (eV)	1.204	0.878	0.962

Table 6. Summary of data extracted for devices fabricated on the 140128-1 GaN material

# 4.3 Discussion of GaN Device Results

The Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky devices have been evaluated using the same techniques first employed on the Ni/GaAs sample in Section 3.5. In comparison to GaAs, the presented results show that the Schottky devices fabricated on GaN are more complex in nature. From the testing of multiple devices on the same sample, it was found that the processing variability was larger than that of the Ni/GaAs sample. At larger forward biases, the saturation of the current in the forward region showed almost no temperature dependence indicating that it is most likely caused by series resistance in the bulk GaN or from the ohmic contacts and not non-linear series elements at the MS interface. Review of the literature shows that this check is not commonly done [82-86], bringing into question whether or not the forward characteristics are dominated by temperature dependent circuit elements in a series configuration. Using Werner's third method of resistance extraction, it was found that all three devices had a series resistance around 55 $\Omega$  again solidifying the idea that it was not caused by a non-ohmic series element. The average barrier heights and ideality factors extracted for each Schottky sample was found to be 0.954eV and 1.088 for Pt, 0.785eV and 1.071 for Ru, and 0.809eV and 1.031 for the RuO<sub>2</sub> devices. The theoretically calculated barrier heights for the Pt and Ru samples are shown in Table 6 and any deviation is considered to be due to Fermi level pinning at the interface.

C-V measurements were taken at room temperature between 0.1V and -5V for a 200um diameter device on all three samples. Linearity of the  $A^2/C^2$  graph indicates that all three samples are doped uniformly throughout the swept depletion widths (80nm to 240nm). The deduced n-type ~1·10<sup>17</sup>cm<sup>-3</sup> effective carrier concentration from these three samples was in agreement with samples made with different Schottky metals on the same material in addition to the carrier density determined by Hall (7.17·10<sup>16</sup>cm<sup>-3</sup>). Upon extraction of the x-axis intercept from the line fit to experimental  $A^2/C^2$  data it was found that the barrier heights from simple J-V measurements where smaller (-59meV for the Pt/GaN device, -28meV for the Ru/GaN device, and -48meV for the RuO<sub>2</sub>), a common characteristic seen both in the Ni/GaAs sample and the literature .

The results of the J-V evaluation suggest that by annealing the Ru/GaN device an increase of 24meV in barrier height with a slight decrease in average ideality factor is achieved. By C-V an increase of 44meV was observed. This increase can be attributed to the creation of Ru-O compounds during the annealing process [74].

In a similar study on RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky contacts deposited by RF magnetron sputtering to GaN, barrier height and ideality factor extracted by J-V were 0.920eV and 1.363 respectively [87]. The larger barrier height can most likely be attributed to the RuO<sub>2</sub> film being more uniformly oxidized compared to our film while the larger ideality factor can be explained by surface damage caused by sputtering the film [88-90]. However, upon examination of the I-V data provided, the diodes reported suffer from a ~10k $\Omega$  series resistance at 1V causing the results to be questionable due to pure thermionic emission being assumed. From this same work, the extracted barrier height from C-V measurements was 1.038eV which is larger than the reported value in Table 6 but could be contributed to surface damage. No temperature dependent data was reported. In another study done by Kim et. al. [74] RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN Schottky diodes were fabricated by thermal evaporation of ruthenium followed by annealing in pure oxygen. Only J-V data was reported. It was found that the as-deposited film had a barrier height of 1.29eV with an ideality factor of 1.46 and after annealing at 500°C in pure oxygen, the barrier height increased to 1.43eV and the ideality factor decreased to 1.08.

J-V measurements were performed between 170K and 330K in steps of 10K to study the possibility of inhomogeneity at the MS interface. In all three devices a parallel conduction mechanism dominated much of the J-V curves at lower temperatures for each of the diodes. Extracting the characteristic energy for the higher and lower bias regions of each device made it clear that the parallel conduction mechanism was not thermionic emission however, the linear portion at higher biases was. It was found that the characteristic energies fit to the ideality factors extracted from larger biases fell at or below the  $0.5k_BT$  line. Nevertheless, as with the Ni/GaAs devices mentioned previously, the extracted Richardson constant and barrier height fell well below the expected values indicating thermionic emission over a single barrier could not well explain the experimental data.

It was found from Werner's method of fitting the J-V-T results with a Gaussian distributions of barrier heights that Pt has the highest average barrier height of 1.205eV, then the ruthenium dioxide at 0.963eV and the un-annealed ruthenium sample with the smallest at 0.88eV. This pattern is consistent with J-V and C-V measurements. From the ideality factor dependence on temperature it was found that the ruthenium samples shared similar barrier and standard deviation voltage dependencies while the platinum sample suffered from an almost 300% greater dependence for both figures in comparison. This could mean that the platinum sample has smaller areas of large barrier heights which can be perturbed more easily with small changes of voltage whereas the ruthenium samples suffer from a tighter distribution of barrier so that any change will only slightly shift the mean and standard distribution with voltage. The standard deviation figures mentioned previously agree with this synopsis.

The Richardson plot was corrected with the standard deviations and, in all three devices, found to become more linear across the whole temperature range. The zero-bias barrier height extrapolated from the slope was found to be in good agreement with the barrier height temperature dependence data.

Extrapolating the linear portion of the data to the y-intercept the effective Richardson constants found are 23.69Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup>, 21.09Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup>, and 23.50Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> devices respectively. These values agree well with the theoretically calculated 24Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> using an electron mass of  $0.2m_0$ .

Because Werner's method for characterization of inhomogeneity is only suitable for thermionic emission across the barrier distribution, fitting the linear portion of the J-V-T at lower regions wouldn't yield meaningful results. However, displaying the temperature dependence of the barrier height (saturation current) extracted from the lower region yields something interesting. Figure 38, shows both the ideality and barrier height dependence of the lower bias regions on temperature. At larger temperatures (left side of the data), the data is dominated by the thermionic emission barrier heights analyzed above thus drowning out effect from this unknown parallel conduction. At lower temperatures, the extraction of the ideality factor and barrier height become temperature insensitive indicating that parallel resistance (most likely from the test setup) is dominating. Examination of the barrier height data between these two regions yields a straight line corresponding to an average zero-bias barrier height of 1.411eV, 1.375eV, and 1.448eV for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> Schottky devices respectively. Additionally, the -26.0·10<sup>-3</sup> standard is eV, deviation (slope) extracted from these lines -22.4·10<sup>-3</sup> eV, and -29.5·10<sup>-3</sup> eV for the Pt, Ru, and RuO<sub>2</sub> samples. This similarity between the three temperature dependence barriers implies that the lower bias region is metal insensitive and may be caused by a material property such as traps at the surface allowing tunneling through the barrier in forward bias. This model is consistent with the fact that it dominates at lower bias and lower temperatures because this is where thermionic emission is the weakest. Additionally, the inverse dependence of the reverse leakage current (Figure 27) on barrier height can be explained by tunneling at a fixed energy below the conduction band minimum. At a fixed energy below the conduction band minimum, as the barrier height increases, the tunneling distance decreases causing leakage current to increase.



Figure 38. Ideality factor and barrier heights for the Pt (top), Ru (middle) and RuO<sub>2</sub> (bottom) Schottky diodes extracted from lower bias regions ranging in temperature between 170K and 330K.

# 5 Conclusion

A detailed treatment of Schottky parameter extraction was established and qualified using well behaved Ni/GaAs Schottky diodes. The methods were then applied to investigate RuO<sub>2</sub>/GaN devices and compared to the two test cases, Ru and Pt based Schottky devices, fabricated on the same material. Experimental data agreed well with Werner's inhomogeneity approach highlighting the fact that simple I-V parameter extraction usually seen in the literature can result in an incomplete explanation of complicated devices. Ultimately it was found that by annealing ruthenium in open air and 83meV increase in the mean barrier height can be achieved on GaN in addition to the increased film transparency (not shown). This proves that RuO<sub>2</sub> makes for a suitable Schottky contact to GaN which can be used to optically characterize semiconductor material without sacrificing its electrical properties.

# 6 References

- [1] S. Strite and H. Morkoc, "GaN, AlN, and InN: A Review," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 10, pp. 1237-1266, Jul-Aug 1992.
- [2] H. Morkoc, S. Strite, G. B. Gao, M. E. Lin, B. Sverdlov, and M. Burns, "Large-Band-Gap Sic, Iii-V Nitride, and Ii-Vi Znse-Based Semiconductor-Device Technologies," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 76, pp. 1363-1398, Aug 1 1994.
- [3] J. Wu, W. Walukiewicz, K. M. Yu, J. W. Ager, S. X. Li, E. E. Haller, H. Lu, and W. J. Schaff, "Universal bandgap bowing in group-III nitride alloys," *Solid State Communications,* vol. 127, pp. 411-414, Aug 2003.
- [4] O. Ambacher, "Growth and applications of Group III nitrides," *Journal of Physics D-Applied Physics,* vol. 31, pp. 2653-2710, Oct 21 1998.
- [5] H. Markoc, *Handbook of Nitride Semiconductors and Devices* vol. Vol. 1: Materials Properties, Physics and Growth, 2008.
- [6] M. Mizuta, S. Fujieda, Y. Matsumoto, and T. Kawamura, "Low-Temperature Growth of Gan and Aln on Gaas Utilizing Metalorganics and Hydrazine," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics Part 2-Letters*, vol. 25, pp. L945-L948, Dec 1986.
- [7] T. Lei, M. Fanciulli, R. J. Molnar, T. D. Moustakas, R. J. Graham, and J. Scanlon, "Epitaxial-Growth of Zinc Blende and Wurtzitic Gallium Nitride Thin-Films on (001) Silicon," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 59, pp. 944-946, Aug 19 1991.
- [8] M. J. Paisley, Z. Sitar, J. B. Posthill, and R. F. Davis, "Growth of Cubic Phase Gallium Nitride by Modified Molecular-Beam Epitaxy," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology a-Vacuum Surfaces* and Films, vol. 7, pp. 701-705, May-Jun 1989.
- [9] R. C. Powell, N. E. Lee, Y. W. Kim, and J. E. Greene, "Heteroepitaxial Wurtzite and Zincblende Structure Gan Grown by Reactive-Ion Molecular-Beam Epitaxy Growth-Kinetics, Microstructure, and Properties," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 73, pp. 189-204, Jan 1 1993.
- [10] C. A. S. T.P. Humphreys, R.J. Nemanich, J.B. Posthill, R.A. Rudder, S.V. Hattangady and R.J. Markunas, "Microstructural and Optical Characterization of GaN Films Grown by PECVD on (0001) Sapphire Substrates," in *MRS Fall Meeting*, 1989.
- [11] Q. Xia, H. Xia, and A. L. Ruoff, "Pressure-Induced Rock-Salt Phase of Aluminum Nitride a Metastable Structure at Ambient Condition," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 73, pp. 8198-8200, Jun 15 1993.
- [12] O. Madelung, *Semiconductors: Data Handbook*, 3rd ed.: Springer, 2004.
- [13] M. E. Levenshtein, S. L. Rumyantsev, and M. S. Shur, *Properties of Advanced Semiconductor Materials: GaN, AIN, InN, BN, SiC, SiGe*: John Wiley & Sons., 2001.
- [14] M. O. M. E.T. Yu, Ed., *III-5 Nitride Semiconductors: Applications and Devices* (Optoelectronic Properties of Semiconductors and Superlattices. Taylor & Fracis, 2003, p.^pp. Pages.
- [15] H. J. Round, "A note on carborundum," *Electrical World*, vol. 19, 1907.
- [16] E. A. M. J. I. Pankove, D. Richman, J. E. Berkeyheiser, "Electroluminescence in GaN," *Journal of Lmunescence*, vol. 4, pp. 63-66, 1971.
- [17] M. T. Erich Tiede, Karl Sensse, "Über phosphorescenzfähiges, durch Silicium aktiviertes Aluminiumnitrid," *Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft*, vol. 61, 1928.
- [18] J. B. P. Warren C. Johnson, "Nitrogen Compounds of Gallium," *Journal of Physical Chemistry*, vol. 36, pp. 2588-2594, 1932.
- [19] H. H. Robert Juza, "Über die Kristallstrukturen von Cu3N, GaN und InN Metallamide und Metallnitride," *Zeitschrift für anorganische und allgemeine Chemie*, vol. 239, pp. 282-287, 1938.

- [20] J. J. T. H.P. Maruska, "The Preparation and Properties of Vapor-Deposited Single-Crystal-Line GaN," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 15, pp. 327-329, 1969.
- [21] H. Amano, N. Sawaki, I. Akasaki, and Y. Toyoda, "Metalorganic Vapor-Phase Epitaxial-Growth of a High-Quality Gan Film Using an Ain Buffer Layer," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 48, pp. 353-355, Feb 3 1986.
- [22] S. Yoshida, S. Misawa, and S. Gonda, "Epitaxial Growth of GaN/AIN Heterostructures," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 1, pp. 250-253, 1983.
- [23] I. Akasaki, H. Amano, M. Kito, and K. Hiramatsu, "Photoluminescence of Mg-Doped P-Type Gan and Electroluminescence of Gan P-N-Junction Led," *Journal of Luminescence*, vol. 48-9, pp. 666-670, Jan-Feb 1991.
- [24] R. C. A. Trassoudaine, E. Aujol, "Growth of Gallium Nitride by Hydride Vapr Phase Epitaxy," in *Nitride Semiconductors: Handbook on Materials and Devices*, M. A. P. Ruterana, J. Neugebauer, Ed., ed: WILEY-VCH, 2003.
- [25] C. E. C. Dam, A. P. Grzegorczyk, P. R. Hageman, R. Dorsman, C. R. Kleijn, and P. K. Larsen, "The effect of HVPE reactor geometry on GaN growth rate experiments versus simulations," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 271, pp. 192-199, Oct 15 2004.
- [26] X. P. Hao, Y. L. Shao, L. Zhang, Y. Z. Wu, X. F. Chen, S. Qu, X. G. Xu, and M. H. Jiang, "Influence of GaCl carrier gas flow rate on properties of GaN films grown by hydride vapor-phase epitaxy," *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, vol. 509, pp. 6212-6216, May 26 2011.
- [27] J. J. Wu, L. B. Zhao, K. Xu, Z. J. Yang, and G. Y. Zhang, "Effects of growth temperature modulated by HCl flow rate on the surface and crystal qualities of thick GaN by HVPE," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 255, pp. 8003-8009, Jun 30 2009.
- [28] Y. Sato and S. Sato, "Growth of Inn Thin-Films by Hydride Vapor-Phase Epitaxy," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 144, pp. 15-19, Nov 1994.
- [29] V. Wagner, O. Parillaud, H. J. Buhlmann, M. Ilegems, S. Gradecak, P. Stadelmann, T. Riemann, and J. Christen, "Influence of the carrier gas composition on morphology, dislocations, and microscopic luminescence properties of selectively grown GaN by hydride vapor phase epitaxy," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 92, pp. 1307-1316, Aug 1 2002.
- [30] H. P. Liu, J. D. Tsay, W. Y. Liu, Y. D. Guo, J. T. Hsu, and I. G. Chen, "The growth mechanism of GaN grown by hydride vapor phase epitaxy in N-2 and H-2 carrier gas," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 260, pp. 79-84, Jan 2 2004.
- [31] T. Detchprohm, K. Hiramatsu, H. Amano, and I. Akasaki, "Hydride Vapor-Phase Epitaxial-Growth of a High-Quality Gan Film Using a Zno Buffer Layer," *Applied Physics Letters,* vol. 61, pp. 2688-2690, Nov 30 1992.
- [32] P. R. Tavernier, E. V. Etzkorn, Y. Wang, and D. R. Clarke, "Two-step growth of high-quality GaN by hydride vapor-phase epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters,* vol. 77, pp. 1804-1806, Sep 18 2000.
- [33] E. Valcheva, T. Paskova, S. Tungasmita, P. O. A. Persson, J. Birch, E. B. Svedberg, L. Hultman, and B. Monemar, "Interface structure of hydride vapor phase epitaxial GaN grown with high-temperature reactively sputtered AIN buffer," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 76, pp. 1860-1862, Apr 3 2000.
- [34] J. J. Wu, L. B. Zhao, D. Y. Wen, K. Xu, Z. J. Yang, G. Y. Zhang, H. Li, and R. Zuo, "New design of nozzle structures and its effect on the surface and crystal qualities of thick GaN using a horizontal HVPE reactor," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 255, pp. 5926-5931, Mar 15 2009.
- [35] E. Richter, C. Hennig, M. Weyers, F. Habel, J. D. Tsay, W. Y. Liu, P. Bruckner, F. Scholz, Y. Makarov,
   A. Segal, and J. Kaeppeler, "Reactor and growth process optimization for growth of thick GaN layers on sapphire substrates by HVPE," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 277, pp. 6-12, Apr 15 2005.
- [36] H. M. M. a. W. I. Simpson, "The Use of Metal-Organics in the Preparation of Semiconductor Materials," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 116, pp. 1725-1732, 1969.

- [37] Y. Seki, K. Tanno, K. Iida, and E. Ichiki, "Properties of Epitaxial Gaas Layers from a Triethyl Gallium and Arsine System," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, vol. 122, pp. 1108-1112, 1975.
- [38] R. R. Bradley, "Mocvd Growth and Characterization of Gaalas-Gaas Double Heterostructures for Opto-Electronic Devices," *Journal of Crystal Growth,* vol. 55, pp. 223-228, 1981.
- [39] R. R. Saxena, V. Aebi, C. B. Cooper, M. J. Ludowise, H. A. Vanderplas, B. R. Cairns, T. J. Maloney, P.
   G. Borden, and P. E. Gregory, "High-Efficiency Algaas-Gaas Concentrator Solar-Cells by Organometallic Vapor-Phase Epitaxy," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 51, pp. 4501-4503, 1980.
- [40] J. P. Andre, P. Guittard, J. Hallais, and C. Piaget, "Gaas Photo-Cathodes for Low Light Level Imaging," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 55, pp. 235-245, 1981.
- [41] R. D. Dupuis and P. D. Dapkus, "Continuous Room-Temperature Operation of Ga(1-X)Alxas-Gaas Double-Heterostructure Lasers Grown by Organometallic Chemical Vapor-Deposition," *Applied Physics Letters,* vol. 32, pp. 406-407, 1978.
- [42] G. B. Stringfellow, Organometallic Vapor-Phase Epitaxy, 2nd ed.: Academic Press, 1999.
- [43] J. E. Ayers, "Heteroepitaxial Growth," in *Heteroepitaxy of Semiconductors: Theory, Growth and Characterization*, ed: CNC Press, 2007.
- [44] T. Paskova, D. A. Hanser, and K. R. Evans, "GaN Substrates for III-Nitride Devices," *Proceedings of the leee*, vol. 98, pp. 1324-1338, Jul 2010.
- [45] J. W. P. Hsu, M. J. Manfra, D. V. Lang, S. Richter, S. N. G. Chu, A. M. Sergent, R. N. Kleiman, L. N. Pfeiffer, and R. J. Molnar, "Inhomogeneous spatial distribution of reverse bias leakage in GaN Schottky diodes," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 78, pp. 1685-1687, Mar 19 2001.
- [46] F. Benkabou, P. Becker, M. Certier, and H. Aourag, "Structural and dynamical properties of zincblende GaN," *Physica Status Solidi B-Basic Research*, vol. 209, pp. 223-233, Oct 1998.
- [47] A. H. Wilson, "The Theory of Electronic Semi-Conductors," *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A*, vol. 131, pp. 458-491, 1931.
- [48] B. Davydov, "The Rectifying Action of Semiconductors," *Technical physics of the U.S.S.R.,* vol. 5, pp. 87-95, 1938.
- [49] N. F. Mott, "Note on the Contact Between a Metal and an Insulator or Semiconductor," *Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, vol. 34, pp. 568-572, 1938.
- [50] W. Schottky, "Semiconductor Theory of the Blocking Layer," *Naturwiss*, vol. 26, 1938.
- [51] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, Third ed.: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2007.
- [52] R. H. W. E. H. Rhoderick, *Metal-Semiconductor Contacts*, Second Edition ed.: Oxford Science Publications, 1988.
- [53] R. T. Tung, "Recent advances in Schottky barrier concepts," *Materials Science & Engineering R-Reports*, vol. 35, pp. 1-138, Nov 9 2001.
- [54] V. Heine, "Theory of Surface States," *Physical Review*, vol. 138, pp. A1689-A1696, 1965.
- [55] J. Tersoff, "Schottky-Barrier Heights and the Continuum of Gap States," *Physical Review Letters,* vol. 52, pp. 465-468, 1984.
- [56] W. E. Spicer, P. W. Chye, P. R. Skeath, C. Y. Su, and I. Lindau, "New and Unified Model for Schottky-Barrier and Iii-V Insulator Interface States Formation," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology*, vol. 16, pp. 1422-1433, 1979.
- [57] W. E. Spicer, Z. Lilientalweber, E. Weber, N. Newman, T. Kendelewicz, R. Cao, C. Mccants, P. Mahowald, K. Miyano, and I. Lindau, "The Advanced Unified Defect Model for Schottky-Barrier Formation," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 6, pp. 1245-1251, Jul-Aug 1988.
- [58] W. E. Spicer and A. M. Green, "Reaching Consensus and Closure on Key Questions, a History of Success, and Failure of Gaas-Surfaces and Interfaces at the Proceedings of the Physics and Chemistry of Semiconductor Interfaces," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 11, pp. 1347-1353, Jul-Aug 1993.

- [59] H. Hasegawa and H. Ohno, "Unified Disorder Induced Gap State Model for Insulator-Semiconductor and Metal-Semiconductor Interfaces," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 4, pp. 1130-1138, Jul-Aug 1986.
- [60] R. T. Tung, "Chemical bonding and Fermi level pinning at metal-semiconductor interfaces," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 84, pp. 6078-6081, Jun 26 2000.
- [61] M. Schluter, "Chemical Trends in Metal-Semiconductor Barrier Heights," *Physical Review B*, vol. 17, pp. 5044-5047, 1978.
- [62] J. P. Sullivan, R. T. Tung, M. R. Pinto, and W. R. Graham, "Electron-Transport of Inhomogeneous Schottky Barriers a Numerical Study," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 70, pp. 7403-7424, Dec 15 1991.
- [63] J. L. Freeouf, T. N. Jackson, S. E. Laux, and J. M. Woodall, "Effective Barrier Heights of Mixed Phase Contacts Size Effects," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 40, pp. 634-636, 1982.
- [64] J. H. Werner and H. H. Guttler, "Barrier Inhomogeneities at Schottky Contacts," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 69, pp. 1522-1533, Feb 1 1991.
- [65] D. K. Schroder, "Chapter 3: Contact Resistance and Schottky Barriers," in *Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization*, Third ed: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2006.
- [66] D. S. Ginley and C. Bright, "Transparent conducting oxides," *Mrs Bulletin,* vol. 25, pp. 15-18, Aug 2000.
- [67] A. Klein, "Transparent Conducting Oxides: Electronic Structure-Property Relationship from Photoelectron Spectroscopy with in situ Sample Preparation," *Journal of the American Ceramic Society*, vol. 96, pp. 331-345, Feb 2013.
- [68] T. Minami, "Transparent conducting oxide semiconductors for transparent electrodes," *Semiconductor Science and Technology,* vol. 20, pp. S35-S44, Apr 2005.
- [69] N. Romeo, A. Bosio, V. Canevari, M. Terheggen, and L. V. Roca, "Comparison of different conducting oxides as substrates for CdS/CdTe thin film solar cells," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 431, pp. 364-368, May 1 2003.
- [70] S. Major, A. Banerjee, and K. L. Chopra, "Highly Transparent and Conducting Indium-Doped Zinc-Oxide Films by Spray Pyrolysis," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 108, pp. 333-340, 1983.
- [71] H. Kawazoe, M. Yasukawa, H. Hyodo, M. Kurita, H. Yanagi, and H. Hosono, "P-type electrical conduction in transparent thin films of CuAlO2," *Nature*, vol. 389, pp. 939-942, Oct 30 1997.
- [72] L. Krusinelbaum and M. Wittmer, "Conducting Transition-Metal Oxides Possibilities for Ruo2 in VIsi Metallization," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, vol. 135, pp. 2610-2614, Oct 1988.
- [73] Z. J. Yang, Y. D. Guo, J. Li, J. C. Liu, W. Dai, X. L. Cheng, and X. D. Yang, "Electronic structure and optical properties of rutile RuO2 from first principles," *Chinese Physics B*, vol. 19, Jul 2010.
- [74] J. K. Kim and J. L. Lee, "GaN MSM ultraviolet photodetectors with transparent and thermally stable RuO2 and IrO2 Schottky contacts," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society,* vol. 151, pp. G190-G195, Mar 2004.
- [75] J. H. Werner, "Schottky-Barrier and Pn-Junction I/V Plots Small-Signal Evaluation," *Applied Physics a-Materials Science & Processing*, vol. 47, pp. 291-300, Nov 1988.
- [76] T. L. Paoli and P. A. Barnes, "Saturation of Junction Voltage in Stripe-Geometry (Aiga)as Double-Heterostructure Junction Lasers," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 28, pp. 714-716, 1976.
- [77] R. W. Dixon and W. B. Joyce, "Derivative Measurements of Light-Current-Voltage Characteristics of (Al,Ga)as Double Heterostructure Lasers and Comparison with Theory of an Ideal Laser," *Ieee Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 23, pp. 1260-1260, 1976.
- [78] H. Norde, "Modified Forward Iv Plot for Schottky Diodes with High Series Resistance," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 50, pp. 5052-5053, 1979.
- [79] S. K. Cheung and N. W. Cheung, "Extraction of Schottky Diode Parameters from Forward Current-Voltage Characteristics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 49, pp. 85-87, Jul 14 1986.

- [80] L. S. Yu, Q. Z. Liu, Q. J. Xing, D. J. Qiao, S. S. Lau, and J. Redwing, "The role of the tunneling component in the current-voltage characteristics of metal-GaN Schottky diodes," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 84, pp. 2099-2104, Aug 15 1998.
- [81] Y. Lei, H. Lu, D. S. Cao, D. J. Chen, R. Zhang, and Y. D. Zheng, "Reverse leakage mechanism of Schottky barrier diode fabricated on homoepitaxial GaN," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 82, pp. 63-66, Apr 2013.
- [82] S. Dogan, S. Duman, B. Gurbulak, S. Tuzemen, and H. Morkoc, "Temperature variation of currentvoltage characteristics of Au/Ni/n-GaN Schottky diodes," *Physica E-Low-Dimensional Systems & Nanostructures*, vol. 41, pp. 646-651, Feb 2009.
- [83] M. S. P. Reddy, V. R. Reddy, and C. J. Choi, "Electrical properties and interfacial reactions of rapidly annealed Ni/Ru Schottky rectifiers on n-type GaN," *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, vol. 503, pp. 186-191, Jul 30 2010.
- [84] A. Kumar, S. Vinayak, and R. Singh, "Micro-structural and temperature dependent electrical characterization of Ni/GaN Schottky barrier diodes," *Current Applied Physics*, vol. 13, pp. 1137-1142, Aug 2013.
- [85] N. N. K. Reddy and V. R. Reddy, "Barrier characteristics of Pt/Ru Schottky contacts on n-type GaN based on I-V-T and C-V-T measurements," *Bulletin of Materials Science*, vol. 35, pp. 53-61, Feb 2012.
- [86] K. Suzue, S. N. Mohammad, Z. F. Fan, W. Kim, O. Aktas, A. E. Botchkarev, and H. Morkoc, "Electrical conduction in platinum-gallium nitride Schottky diodes," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 80, pp. 4467-4478, Oct 15 1996.
- [87] S. H. Lee, J. K. Chun, J. J. Hur, J. S. Lee, G. H. Rue, Y. H. Bae, S. H. Hahm, Y. H. Lee, and J. H. Lee, "RuO2/GaN Schottky contact formation with superior forward and reverse characteristics," *leee Electron Device Letters*, vol. 21, pp. 261-263, Jun 2000.
- [88] D. L. Pulfrey, G. Parish, D. Wee, and B. D. Nener, "Surface-layer damage and responsivity in sputtered-ITO/p-GaN Schottky-barrier photodiodes," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 49, pp. 1969-1973, Dec 2005.
- [89] D. A. Vandenbroucke, R. L. Vanmeirhaeghe, W. H. Laflere, and F. Cardon, "Sputter-Induced Damage in Al/N-Gaas and Al/P-Gaas Schottky Barriers," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 2, pp. 293-298, May 1987.
- [90] H. P. Hall, M. A. Awaah, and K. Das, "Sputter-deposited metal contacts for n-type GaN," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 19, pp. 176-182, Feb 2004.
- [91] K. Sarpatwari, S. E. Mohney, and O. O. Awadelkarim, "Effects of barrier height inhomogeneities on the determination of the Richardson constant," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 109, Jan 1 2011.
- [92] P. Hacke, T. Detchprohm, K. Hiramatsu, and N. Sawaki, "Schottky-Barrier on N-Type Gan Grown by Hydride Vapor-Phase Epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters,* vol. 63, pp. 2676-2678, Nov 8 1993.
- [93] A. T. Ping, A. C. Schmitz, M. A. Khan, and I. Adesida, "Characterisation of Pd Schottky barrier on ntype GaN," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 32, pp. 68-70, Jan 4 1996.
- [94] A. C. Schmitz, A. T. Ping, M. A. Khan, Q. Chen, J. W. Yang, and I. Adesida, "Schottky barrier properties of various metals on n-type GaN," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 11, pp. 1464-1467, Oct 1996.
- [95] J. D. Guo, M. S. Feng, R. J. Guo, F. M. Pan, and C. Y. Chang, "Study of Schottky Barriers on N-Type Gan Grown by Low-Pressure Metalorganic Chemical-Vapor-Deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 67, pp. 2657-2659, Oct 30 1995.
- [96] H. Matino and M. Tokunaga, "Contact Resistance of Several Metals and Alloys to GaAs," *Journal of Electrochemical Society: Electrochemical Technology*, vol. 116, 1969.

[97] B. Van Daele, G. Van Tendeloo, W. Ruythooren, J. Derluyn, M. R. Leys, and M. Germain, "The role of Al on Ohmic contact formation on n-type GaN and AlGaN/GaN," *Applied Physics Letters,* vol. 87, Aug 8 2005.

### 7 Appendix

#### 7.1 Appendix A. Derivation of Current Transport Mechanism

If thermionic-emission is the limiting transport mechanism, only charged particles with energy greater than the barrier height can contribute to the current density [47]. Thus the carrier concentration in the bulk semiconductor is given by:

$$n = N_c \exp\left(\frac{-q(\phi_b - V_A)}{kT}\right) \tag{41}$$

Because the limiting cause is thermionic emission, one way of looking at the transmission of electrons is having a sharp step barrier much like that of what a metal electron see's at the boundary of the material. Instead of the vacuum level impeding electrons from leaving the substrate we can substitute the Schottky barrier ( $\phi_b$ ) and note that electrons will have a tunneling probability of p. Assuming that the semiconductor has a spherical constant-energy surface, the number a electrons per second that arrive at the boundary is  $n\bar{v}/4$ , where  $\bar{v}$  is the mean Maxwellian distribution of velocity. The current density from electrons passing from the semiconductor to the metal then becomes:

$$J_{sm} = p \frac{q n \bar{v}}{4} = p \frac{q N_c \bar{v}}{4} \exp\left(\frac{-q(\phi_b - V_A)}{kT}\right)$$
(42)

Notice, that if at V = 0 the current density must go to zero, the current density from the metal to the semiconductor is:

$$J_{ms} = p \frac{q N_c \bar{\nu}}{4} \exp\left(\frac{-q \phi_b}{kT}\right)$$
(43)

So that

$$J(V_A) = J_{sm} - J_{ms} = p \frac{q N_c \bar{\nu}}{4} \exp\left(\frac{-q \phi_b}{kT}\right) \left\{ \exp\left(\frac{q V_A}{kT}\right) - 1 \right\}$$
(44)

Finally, if the scenario where the barrier becomes infinitely small is considered, then all of the electrons hitting the surface of what was the barrier will be transmitted through with a probability of p = 1. This scenario comes with the assumption that the value of  $n\overline{v}/4$  will not change. Substituting p = 1 and  $N_c = 2\left(\frac{2\pi m^*kT}{h^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}$  into the above equation provides the IV characteristic of a thermionic-emission limited SB:

$$J(V_A) = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q\phi_b}{kT}\right) \left\{ \exp\left(\frac{qV_A}{kT}\right) - 1 \right\}$$
(45)

Where

$$A^* = \frac{4\pi m^* q k^2}{h^3}$$
(46)

Semiconductor	$A^* (A \ cm^{-2}K^{-2})$	
n-Si	112( <u>+</u> 6)	
p-Si	32(±2)	
n-GaAs	$4 - 8,0.41(\pm 0.15)$	
p-GaAs	7(±1.5)	
n-GaN [91]	29( <u>+</u> 6)	
Au/n-GaN	0.006[92], 14.68[93]	
Pd/n-GaN	3.24d[93], 0.44[94]	
Pt/n-GaN	6.61 [95], 64.7[94]	

#### Table 7. Experimental Values of A\* [65]

The previously derived function for current density is idealized and assumes that the barrier height has no dependence on the applied bias. In most fabricated Schottky barriers, this is not the case and the effective barrier height due to image barrier lowering can be written as  $\phi_e = \phi_b - \Delta \phi_{bi}$ , where  $\Delta \phi_{bi}$  is the change of barrier height from image barrier lowering and can be seen in Figure 9.



#### Figure 2. Image-force lowering of SB [52]

There also exists an interfactial layer whose dependance on the bias voltage changes the effective barrier height so that  $\phi_e$  actually has two voltage dependent terms. The second one, if considered linear with voltage, can be expressed as  $\beta V$  where  $\beta$  is a constant. We can now write the effective barrier height as  $\phi_e = \phi_{b0} - (\Delta \phi_{bi})_0 + \beta V$  where  $\phi_{b0}$  and  $(\Delta \phi_{bi})_0$  denote the respective barrier at zero bias and the voltage dependance is lumped into the  $\beta V$  term. Using the thermionic-emission current density derived above we can subsitute  $\phi_e$  for  $\phi_b$  which becomes:

$$J(V_A) = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q(\phi_{b0} - (\Delta \phi_{bi})_0 + \beta V_A)}{kT}\right) \left\{\exp\left(\frac{qV_A}{kT}\right) - 1\right\}$$
7-1

Which simplifies to,

the the

$$J(V_A) = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q(\phi_{b0} - (\Delta \phi_{bi})_0)}{kT}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-q\beta V_A}{kT}\right) \left\{\exp\left(\frac{qV_A}{kT}\right) - 1\right\} = J_0 \exp\left(\frac{-q\beta V_A}{kT}\right) \left\{\exp\left(\frac{qV_A}{kT}\right) - 1\right\}$$
  
Where

 $J_0 = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q(\phi_{b0} - (\Delta \phi_{bi})_0)}{L^T}\right)$ 

Note that if there is only ideal thermionic-emission across the barrier from the semiconductor to the metal and no effect from a voltage-dependent barrier height then 
$$\beta \rightarrow 0$$
. If we want a measure of the deviation of  $\beta$ , we can define  $\frac{1}{n} = 1 - \beta$  where *n* is the ideality factor and essentially corrects the current density equation for any deviations from the ideal equation. Thus after substituting  $\beta = 1 - \frac{1}{n}$ 

$$J(V_A) = J_0 \exp\left(\frac{qV}{nkT}\right) \left\{ 1 - \exp\left(\frac{-qV_A}{kT}\right) \right\}$$
 7-3

the new form is:

7-2

# 7.2 Appendix B. Ni/GaAs Fabrication Process

#### 7.2.1 GaAs Cleaning

A pre-fabrication cleaning is done to remove any organics or surface debris along with removing any surface oxide that may have formed after growth. Each sample was placed in a beaker of acetone for 10 minutes, then isopropyl alcohol (IPA) for 10 minutes, followed by a rinse in deionized water then blown dry in dry nitrogen. A dip in diluted hydrofluoric (10:1) acid for 1.5 minute and a deionized water rinse with nitrogen air dry was used to remove any thin film surface oxide. Finally, samples were dehydrated on a hot plate at 124°C for 5 minutes.

Sample cleaning was also done before and after each electron beam metallization and dry etching step. To remove any residual photoresist, a plasma ashing step was executed under an oxygen ambient for 10 seconds. The samples were again dipped in HF for 1 minute, rinsed in DI water and blown dry with nitrogen. Following the drying step, samples were immediately mounted and taken to the next tool. The HF dip was not executed if any deposited metal was exposed on the sample surface.

#### 7.2.2 GaAs Photoprocess

The AZ9260 i/h-line photoresist was used as both a metallization liftoff mask and an etching mask during sample fabrication. After dehydration, each sample was spun at 1000 RPM while the photoresist was dispensed and then immediately at 3000 RPM for 45 seconds. The softbake procedure was carried out at  $115^{\circ}$ C for 3.5 minutes resulting in an average photoresist thickness of 8µm. A broadband UV exposure for 42 seconds was executed in a hard contact configuration for each field. Finally, samples were submerged in a 1:3 solution of AZ400K potassium-based developer and deionized water for 5 minutes.

#### 7.2.3 GaAs Dry Etching

Although later GaN Schottky samples lacked the higher doped ohmic contact layer thus not requiring a dry etch step to access it, dry etching was carried out on the GaAs Schottky samples. The AZ9260 photoresist was used as an etch mask to create circular mesas. The mesa top is the unetched surface while the bottom is the exposed ohmic layer as seen in Figure 14 above. The etching recipe can be found in Appendix C.

#### 7.2.4 GaAs Metal Deposition

All metal contacts were deposited by a Kurt Lesker PVD250 electron-beam evaporator under vacuum. Pattern formation was by photoresist lift-off. Based on work done by Matino et al. [96], a Sn(265nm)/Ag(10nm)/ Sn(265nm)/Ag(10nm)/Sn(265nm) stack was deposited and annealed to serve as an ohmic contact. The thickness of each layer was targeted to create a 96.5% Sn to 3.5% Ag by weight alloy which can be annealed at lower temperatures. Additionally, a stack of Ni(50nm)/Ag(500nm) was deposited on top of the ohmic contact to serve as a diffusion barrier and contact probe pad. The samples were anneal at 320°C under He/Ar forming gas. Schottky contacts were formed by depositing 150nm of Ni and then 300nm of Ag. The sample was not annealed after Schottky contact deposition.

# 7.2.5 Step by Step Ni/GaAs Process

Step	Process Step	Description	Notes
		Acetone Soak	10 min
		IPA Soak	10 min
1	Classing	Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
1	Cleaning	Oxide Removal	BOE (10:1) for 1 min
		Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124°C
	Photoprocess (Mesa Etch)	Photoresist Spin	1000 RPM Deposition 15 Sec
			3000 RPM Spin 45 Sec
2		PR Soft Bake	115°C for 3.5 min
2		PR Exposure	Broadband UV for 42 sec
		PR Develop	AZ400K:DiH <sub>2</sub> 0 (1:3) for 5 min
		Ashing	Plasmatics 5 sccm O <sub>2</sub> for 10 sec
	Classics	Acetone Soak	10 min
2		IPA Soak	10 min
5	Cleaning	Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124°C
		Photoresist Spin	1000 RPM Deposition 15 Sec
			3000 RPM Spin 45 Sec
		PR Soft Bake	115°C for 3.5 min
4	Photoprocess (Ohmic Contacts)	PR Exposure	Broadband UV for 42 sec
		PR Develop	AZ400K:DiH <sub>2</sub> 0 (1:3) for 5 min
		Ashing	Plasmatics 5 sccm O <sub>2</sub> for 10 sec
		Oxide Removal	BOE (10:1) for 1 min
		Ohmic Metal Deposition	Sn(265nm)/Ag(10nm)/
5	Metallization		Sn(265nm)/Ag(10nm)/
			Sn(265nm)/Ni(50nm)/Ag(500nm)
6	Lift-off	Acetone + Ultrasonic	~15 sec
		Acetone Soak	10 min
7	Cleaning	IPA Soak	10 min
		Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124°C
8	Annealing	Annealing	320°C for 5 min Under He/Ar
	Cleaning	Acetone Soak	10 min
9		IPA Soak	10 min
		Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124 C
		Photoresist Spin	1000 RPM Deposition 15 Sec
			3000 RPM Spin 45 Sec
10	Photoprocess (Schottky Contacts)	PR SOTT Bake	115 C for 3.5 min
10		PR Exposure	
		Aching	AL400K.DID20 (1:3) TOF 5 MIN
		Astilling Ovide Removal	Plasmatics 5 sccni $O_2$ for 10 sec
11	Motallization	Schottky Contact Don	Ni(150pm)/Ag(200pm)
12		Acotono i Ultraconio	
12	LIIC-OTT	Acetone + Oltrasonic	10 min
13	Cleaning	IDA Sook	10 min
		Di Pinco + No Dry	
		Di Nilise + N2 DIY	- E min at 124°C
1		Dellyulate	5 mm at 124 C

# 7.3 Appendix C. GaAs RIE Dry Etch Recipe

Trion RIE GaAs Dry Etch Recipe		
Pressure	10 mTorr	
ICP Power	320 W	
RIE Power	50 W	
He Backflow Pressure	9 Torr	
BCl <sub>3</sub> Flow Rate	20 sccm	
Cl <sub>2</sub> Flow Rate	3 sccm	
Chuck Temperature	20C	
E-Static Voltage	600V	
Etch Rate	1.58 μm/min	

# 7.4 Appendix D. Metal/GaN Fabrication Process

#### 7.4.1 GaN Cleaning

Similar to the GaAs process, a pre-fabrication cleaning is necessary to remove any surface contaminants present after MOCVD growth. Each sample was first soaked for 5 minutes in an aqua regia mixture made from a 3:1 solution of HCl to HNO<sub>3</sub> to remove any thin oxide films. Next the samples were ultrasonically cleaned in acetone for 5 minutes. A second aqua regia solution was made and the samples were soaked for 10 minutes. Samples were then moved a container of hydrofluoric acid (50%) for 10 minutes before being rinsed in deionized water and blown dry with nitrogen. Finally the samples were dehydrated at 124C for 5 minutes.

As with the GaAs process, a pre and post metal deposition cleaning was carried out. A 10 second oxygen plasma was used to remove any residual photoresist followed by a 1 minute BOE dip to remove any surface oxide. Once rinsed with deionized water and blown dry with nitrogen, the samples were immediately mounted into the e-beam vacuum chamber. If metal deposited during subsequent steps was exposed the pre-metallization clean consists of only a rinse in deionized water followed by being blown dry with nitrogen.

#### 7.4.2 GaN Photoprocess

The photoprocess used for GaAs was used for GaN samples without change.

#### 7.4.3 GaN Metal Deposition

All metal contacts were deposited by a Kurt Lesker PVD250 electron-beam evaporator under vacuum. Pattern formation was by photoresist lift-off. The ohmic contact stack consisting of Ti(30nm)/Al(400nm)/Ni(50nm)/Ag(300nm) was deposited without breaking vacuum. The Ti/Al layer is able to pin the Fermi level of the GaN to a point where tunneling occurs due to the nitrogen extracted from the surface [97]. The Ni/Ag layer acts as a metallic thermal diffusion barrier and a low resistance contact probe pad. The samples were annealed at 600C for 5 minutes after a lift-off and cleaning procedure.

The following Schottky metals were deposited on separate GaN samples: Pt(50nm), Ru(50nm), Au(50nm), Ni(50nm), Ru(2(10nm), Ni(5nm)/Au(5nm), Ru(5nm)/Ni(5nm), and Annealed Ni(10nm). The Ni/Au and Annealed Ni samples were annealed at 500C for 3 minutes in open air while the Ru/Ni and  $RuO_2$  samples were annealed at 600C for 3 minutes in open air. No other samples were annealed after Schottky metal deposition. An ohmic contact pad of Ni(50nm)/Ag(300nm) was deposited on top of the Schottky metal.

Step	Process Step	Description	Notes
		Aqua Regia Soak	5 min
1		Acetone + Ultrasonic	10 min
		Aqua Regia Soak	10 min
	Cleaning	HF (50%) Soak	10 min
		Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124°C
		Photoresist Spin	1000 RPM Deposition 15 Sec
			3000 RPM Spin 45 Sec
	Photoprocess (Ohmic Contacts)	PR Soft Bake	115°C for 3.5 min
2		PR Exposure	Broadband UV for 42 sec
		PR Develop	AZ400K:DiH <sub>2</sub> 0 (1:3) for 5 min
		Ashing	Plasmatics 5 sccm O <sub>2</sub> for 10 sec
		Oxide Removal	BOE (10:1) for 1 min
3	Metallization	Ohmic Metal Deposition	Ti(30nm)/Al(400nm)/
5			Ni(50nm)/Ag(300nm)
4	Lift-off	Acetone + Ultrasonic	~15 sec
		Acetone Soak	10 min
5	Cleaning	IPA Soak	10 min
	cicaning	Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124°C
6	Annealing	Annealing	600°C for 5 min Under He/Ar
		Acetone Soak	10 min
7	Cleaning	IPA Soak	10 min
,	cicaling	Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Dry	-
		Dehydrate	5 min at 124°C
		Photoresist Spin	1000 RPM Deposition 15 Sec
			3000 RPM Spin 45 Sec
	Photoprocess (Schottky Contacts)	PR Soft Bake	115°C for 3.5 min
8		PR Exposure	Broadband UV for 42 sec
		PR Develop	AZ400K:DiH <sub>2</sub> 0 (1:3) for 5 min
		Ashing	Plasmatics 5 sccm O <sub>2</sub> for 10 sec
		Oxide Removal	BOE (10:1) for 1 min
9	Metallization	Schottky Contact Dep.	-
	Annealing		RuO <sub>2</sub> and Ru/Ni Schottky:
6		Annealing	600 C for 5 min in open Air
0			Appealed Ni and Ni /Au Schattley
			$500^{\circ}$ C for 5 min in open Air
10	Lift off	Acotono + Ultraconic	
10		Acetone Soak	10 min
	Cleaning	IPA Soak	10 min
11		Di Rinse + Na Dry	-
		Dehvdrate	5 min at 124°C
	Photoprocess (Contact Pads)	Photoresist Spin	1000 RPM Deposition 15 Sec
12			3000 RPM Spin 45 Sec
		PR Soft Bake	115°C for 3.5 min
		PR Exposure	Broadband UV for 42 sec
		PR Develop	AZ400K:DiH <sub>2</sub> 0 (1:3) for 5 min
13	Metallization	Ohmic Metal Deposition	Ni(50nm)/Ag(300nm)
14	Lift-off	Acetone + Ultrasonic	~15 sec
		Acetone Soak	10 min
		IPA Soak	10 min
15	Cleaning	Di Rinse + N <sub>2</sub> Drv	
		Dehvdrate ,	5 min at 124°C

# 7.4.4 Step by Step Metal/GaN Process